
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a 

Chwaraeon 
Lleoliad: 

Fideo Gynadledda drwy Zoom  

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 7 Hydref 2020 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Sarah Beasley 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddIechyd@senedd.cymru
------ 

Yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 34.19, mae'r Cadeirydd wedi penderfynu 

gwahardd y cyhoedd o gyfarfod y Pwyllgor at ddibenion diogelu 

iechyd y cyhoedd. Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ddarlledu'n fyw 

ar www.senedd.tv  

 

Rhag-gyfarfod anffurfiol (09.00-09.30)  

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09.30)   

2 COVID-19: Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Hafal, Mind Cymru a Platfform 

(09.30-10.40) (Tudalennau 1 - 76)  

Alun Thomas, Prif Weithredwr – Hafal 

Ewan Hilton, Prif Weithredwr – Platfform 

Sara Moseley, Cyfarwyddwr  - Mind Cymru 

 

Briff ymchwil 

Papur 1 – Hafal 

Papur 2 – Mind Cymru 

Egwyl (10.40-11.00)  

 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

3 COVID-19: Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Choleg Brenhinol y 

Seiciatryddion yng Nghymru a Chymdeithas Seicolegol Prydain 

(11.00-12.10) (Tudalennau 77 - 126)  

Dr Jenny Nam, Cadeirydd yr Adran Seicoleg Cwnsela yng Nghymru -

Cymdeithas Seicolegol Prydain 

Dr Clementine Maddock, Is-Gadeirydd – Coleg Brenhinol y Seiciatryddion yng 

Nghymru 

 

Papur 3 – Coleg Brenhinol y Seiciatryddion Cymru 

Papur 4 – Cymdeithas Seicolegol Prydain 

4 Papurau i'w nodi 

(12.10)   

4.1 Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ynghylch y 

Ganolfan Ganser Felindre newydd arfaethedig 

 (Tudalennau 127 - 128)  

5 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

(12.10)   

6 COVID-19: Trafod y dystiolaeth 

(12.10-12.30)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



1 

 Inquiry into the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 

Hafal’s Preliminary Response 

1 About us 

1.1 Hafal is a charity and company limited by guarantee which speaks for people in Wales with a serious 

mental illness (including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and other conditions involving psychosis or loss of 

insight), their families and carers, and for a wider group of vulnerable people for whom we provide 

services. 

1.2 Hafal is governed by our Members – about 1,000 people who are mainly service-users and carers – who 

elect our Trustees who are themselves mainly users and carers. We manage services in all 22 counties of 

Wales and also facilitate 232 carers support meetings each year. Together these services support over 

6,000 service users and carers every year. Many of our 420 staff also have experience of mental illness or as 

carers. 

1.3 Hafal has put in place local and national plans to manage the impact of coronavirus on our services, 

ensuring vital support is maintained while also keeping everyone as safe as possible. We are also delivering 

Hafal’s Promise – our pledge of lasting contact and friendship – across Wales, and we have seen a 100% 

rise in the number people taking us up on our Promise within the last month. Read more about Hafal’s 

response to the pandemic here. 

2 Response 

2.1 Hafal is concerned that people with a serious mental illness are being let down and put at risk. We 

understand that services have needed to be scaled back but patients need to know what minimum service 

is on offer is how they can access it; and that service needs to function effectively.  We note that the Welsh 

Note: Hafal’s immediate concern – and the reason why we are making this preliminary  

response - is to ensure that during the Covid-19 outbreak patients and families affected by  

serious mental illness can access a sufficient service and so are kept safe. It will also be  

important to hold the national leadership of health and social care in Wales to account,  

together with local delivery by Health Boards, local authorities and others, and to learn lessons: 

we will make a further response to the Inquiry on this in due course. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-26-20 Papur 1 / Paper 1

Tudalen y pecyn 16

https://www.hafal.org/coronavirus/
https://www.hafal.org/coronavirus/


 

2 
 

Government has published advice on the general mental health and wellbeing of people during the 

pandemic but this is not the subject of this response. 

2.2 On 8 April 2020 Hafal launched a survey to gather feedback on the impact of the recent coronavirus 

outbreak on people's mental health in Wales, and their experience of mental health services. The survey, 

which was completed by over 300 participants from across the country, reveals that while the mental 

health of 74% of respondents has been negatively affected by the coronavirus outbreak, nearly two thirds 

(63%) had been unable to access their GP in the previous two weeks.  

• Almost half of respondents (46%) had not been informed about what is happening with mental 

health services in their area, and 37% had services cancelled within the previous fortnight. 14% had 

experienced difficulties in getting hold of their Community Mental Health Team, and 44% had not 

been informed about what they should do or who to contact if their mental health deteriorates or 

they experience a crisis. 

 

• Responses to the survey included: 

 

“I booked an ’emergency appointment’ (in January) for the middle of March, this was cancelled by 

telephone, until further notice, three hours before I was due to be there.” 

 

“My review was cancelled. I had a lot I wanted to discuss and don’t know when it will be 

rescheduled.” 

 

“My partner’s ECT has been cancelled because of this Covid-19. He has become very low and is 

depressed and suicidal. Spoken to the CMHT but they said it can’t be helped it’s the virus?” 

 

“My CPN has left. I don’t know who my new one is and not heard from anyone.” 

 

Read more about the survey here. 

2.3 Hafal’s Chair Mair Elliott wrote to the Health Minister in April expressing our concerns, stating: 

“As Chair of mental health charity Hafal I am writing to you urgently to express my grave concerns 

about the safety of the most vulnerable mental health patients and their carers and families in 

Wales during the coronavirus outbreak and to seek your assurance that their safety will not be 

compromised. 

“We are witnessing the almost complete disappearance of CMHT support, early discharge from 

inpatient units, and closure of inpatient units with major reconfiguration of services seemingly 

focused on dementia beds. 

“We need a guarantee that services will keep patients and their families and carers safe in these 

difficult times.” 

Read more on this correspondence here. 

Tudalen y pecyn 17

https://www.hafal.org/2020/04/survey-raises-concerns-about-the-provision-of-mental-health-services-in-wales-during-the-covid-19-outbreak/
https://www.hafal.org/2020/04/hafal-calls-on-health-minister-to-guarantee-the-safety-of-its-client-group-during-covid-19-outbreak/


3 

2.4 We are concerned that the Welsh Government has not instructed or advised Local Health Boards and 

local authorities on what minimum service should be maintained, and it has not set out any national 

standards for minimum service delivery aside from conformity with the law (which should hardly need 

stating to public bodies).  

2.5 The Welsh Government has told us that local contingency plans by Local Health Boards should include 

details of what will be provided as a minimum service. We have not seen these plans and nor of course 

have patients. We are sceptical about whether the plans do in fact set out what minimum service will be 

provided: our impression is that local planning has revolved around suspension and closure of services and 

has not included any clarity about what basic services will remain in place.  

3 Actions which would help right now 

• The Welsh Government should set out national minimum standards for what service

must be maintained for people with a serious mental illness during the pandemic

• Local Health Boards should publish their contingency plans now and give guidance to

people with a serious mental illness on what services are available and how to access

them

• National standards and the local availability of services should be revised regularly -

flexing with the demands of the pandemic on the NHS and others – and people with a

serious mental illness should be advised accordingly

4 Contact 

 Head of Communications 

Hafal 
Hafal Head Office 

Unit B3, Lakeside Technology Park 

Phoenix Way, Llansamlet 

Swansea SA7 9FE 

Web: www.hafal.org 

Tudalen y pecyn 18

http://www.hafal.org/
mailto:matthew.pearce@hafal.org
http://www.hafal.org/


 
 

Inquiry into the Covid-19 outbreak on health and  
social care in Wales 

 
Further evidence from Hafal 

 
Hafal’s Preliminary Response to the Inquiry can be downloaded here; this further evidence should be 
read with reference to that initial response.  

 
 
 1 About us  
 
1.1 Hafal is a charity and company limited by guarantee which speaks for people in Wales with a 
serious mental illness (including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and other conditions involving 
psychosis or loss of insight), their families and carers, and for a wider group of vulnerable people for 
whom we provide services.  

 
1.2 Hafal is governed by our Members – about 1,000 people who are mainly service-users and carers 
– who elect our Trustees who are themselves mainly users and carers. We manage services in all 22 
counties of Wales and also facilitate 232 carers support meetings each year. Together these services 
support over 6,000 service users and carers every year. Many of our 420 staff also have experience 
of mental illness or as carers.  

 
1.3 Hafal has put in place local and national plans to manage the impact of coronavirus on our 
services, ensuring vital support is maintained while also keeping everyone as safe as possible. We 
are also delivering Hafal’s Promise – our pledge of lasting contact and friendship – across Wales, and 
we have seen a 400% rise in the number people taking us up on our Promise.  
 
 
2. Freedom of information request 
 
2.1 In June 2020, Hafal wrote to each Local Health Board to request a copy of their business 
continuity plans in relation to the provision of mental health services during the present crisis.  
 
2.2 The plans are very varied and difficult to compare. This demonstrates the key issue: no template 
was provided by Welsh Government, so the plans vary widely according to LHB area. In other words, 
the quality of plans for continuing to deliver mental health services during the pandemic depends on 
where you live in Wales.  
 
2.3 The plans focus substantially on withdrawal and redeployment of services with little 
consideration of what will still be provided: this amounts to simply dropping services rather than 

Tudalen y pecyn 19

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s101361/C04%20-%20Hafal.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s101361/C04%20-%20Hafal.pdf


carefully scaling them down leaving sufficient support in place to keep people safe. It is little wonder 
then that there was no clarity given to patients about what support would remain in place - the 
"planners" did not know themselves. 
 
2.4 Hafal Members believe the LHBs should have been provided with clear standards by the Welsh 
Government. For example, as a minimum the plan should have been required to meet the following 
criteria for planning mental health service delivery: 
 
Plan details continuing care and support for the following: 
> inpatients, including both voluntary inpatients and those held under the Mental Health Act 
> those in care homes and supported housing 
> those supported in the community by CMHTs, CAMHS, or other specialist services. 
 
Plan specifies:  
> how quickly patients will be able to get hold of their key worker or care coordinator 
> how assessments will take place 
> how long it will take to be referred from primary to secondary services 
> how crisis services will deliver care 
> how hospitals will ensure that inpatient beds are available, that patients are not discharged too 
early, or that they are not transported out of their local area for treatment. 
 
In addition: 
• Multiple options provided for people to access their care (e.g. telephone, video call, but also 
alternatives if these are not preferred). 
• Clear communications strategy for patients and carers provided. 
• Plan takes into account and caters for families’/carers’ needs.  
• Plan mitigates the danger from certain medications for mental illness, e.g. those which require 
regular testing (clozapine clinics). 
• Clear points of contacts provided. 
 
 

3. Remote working 
 
3.1 We are concerned that there may be an assumption that remote services can be provided to 
people with a serious mental illness on an ongoing basis beyond lockdown.  
 
3.2 Virtual services have limited value for those in highest need; personal contact is a key 
therapeutic element of services provided to those who are very ill. 
 
3.3 In future increasing virtual meetings between professionals could surely make travel time and 
resources available for more - not less - face-to-face meetings with vulnerable patients. 
 
 

4. Prudent mental health care 
 
4.1 We are concerned that, while the support of people with serious mental health problems has 
been compromised by a lack of national guidance, there has been widespread misrepresentation of 
the mental health impact of the pandemic which may have unhelpful short and long-term 
consequences. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 20



4.2 Specifically it should be recognised that proportionate worry or concern about the pandemic is 
not a mental health problem; the great majority of people will not have any significant mental health 
problem as a result of the pandemic. 

4.3 Further, for the great majority of those who do experience a mental health problem as a result of 
the pandemic the appropriate providers of support will be families, schools, employers and others 
who have routine contact. 

4.4 Mental health services need to focus their support on those in the greatest need, especially 
those with a serious mental illness who depend on services to keep safe. 

4.5 One of the worst potential consequences of the pandemic would be to increase the longstanding 
problem of inappropriate treatment (not least treatment with medication) of people with lesser 
mental health problems or without any mental health problems.  

5. Further evidence

5.1 Please find enclosed: 

A press release about the Hafal survey of mental health patients during lockdown plus an 
overview of its findings 
Correspondence between Hafal’s Chair Mair Elliott and Minister for Health and Social 
Services Vaughan Gething regarding mental health service provision during the pandemic 
A press statement on the discharge of mental health patients in North Wales during the 
pandemic 
Hafal’s latest journal (with enclosed Senedd Election 2021 manifesto) which includes a series 
of interviews with service users, carers and mental health professionals about how services 
should develop in the wake of the pandemic. 

6. Contact

Head of Communications  

Hafal  
Hafal Head Office  
Unit B3, Lakeside Technology Park  
Phoenix Way, Llansamlet  
Swansea SA7 9FE  
Web: www.hafal.org 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 21



PRESS STATEMENT 

30/04/20 

Survey raises concerns about the provision of mental health services in Wales 
during the Covid-19 outbreak 

A national survey by Welsh charity Hafal has revealed the problems experienced by patients 
across Wales in accessing support during the Covid-19 outbreak. 

The survey, which was completed by over 300 participants from across the country, reveals that 
while the mental health of 74% of respondents has been negatively affected by the coronavirus 
outbreak, nearly two thirds (63%) had been unable to access their GP in the previous two weeks. 

Almost half of respondents (46%) had not been informed about what is happening with mental 
health services in their area, and 37% had services cancelled within the previous fortnight. 14% had 
experienced difficulties in getting hold of their Community Mental Health Team, and 44% had not 
been informed about what they should do or who to contact if their mental health deteriorates or 
they experience a crisis. 

Participants reported a number of issues with mental health services during the lockdown including 
the following: 

“I booked an ’emergency appointment’ (in January) for the middle of March, this was cancelled by 
telephone, until further notice, three hours before I was due to be there.” 

“My review was cancelled. I had a lot I wanted to discuss and don’t know when it will be 
rescheduled.” 

“My partner’s ECT has been cancelled because of this Covid-19. He has become very low and is 
depressed and suicidal. Spoken to the CMHT but they said it can’t be helped it’s the virus?” 

“My CPN has left. I don’t know who my new one is and not heard from anyone.” 

Hafal’s Chief Executive Alun Thomas said: “The survey results are extremely concerning and they 
confirm what we are hearing on the ground: that people are often so concerned that services are 
under pressure from Covid-19 that they are not calling for help when they first need it, but that 
when they do ultimately call for help they are struggling to access mental health services during the 
lockdown. 

“For people with a serious mental illness, this poses a real threat to health and wellbeing.” 

Tudalen y pecyn 22



In an open letter to the Minister earlier this month Hafal Chair Mair Elliott raised her concerns about 
the current state of mental health provision, stating: “As Chair of mental health charity Hafal I am 
writing to you urgently to express my grave concerns about the safety of the most vulnerable mental 
health patients and their carers and families in Wales during the coronavirus outbreak and to seek 
your assurance that their safety will not be compromised. 

“We are witnessing the almost complete disappearance of CMHT support, access to clozapine clinics 
for our clients significantly impacted, early discharge from inpatient units, and closure of inpatient 
units with major reconfiguration of services seemingly focused on dementia beds.” 

Hafal is continuing to support people with a mental illness across Wales via its 22 county networks 
and through it’s “Promise” which pledges ongoing support to anyone in its client group. 

For more information please contact Head of Communications

ENDS 

Notes to Editors 

1. Hafal is a leading Welsh charity supporting people of any age with a mental illness, physical illness or
disability, and their families and carers. Covering all areas of Wales, Hafal is an organisation managed by
the people it supports. For more information go to: www.hafal.org

Tudalen y pecyn 23



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

1 / 14

17.14% 60

27.14% 95

4.86% 17

16.00% 56

25.43% 89

0.86% 3

8.00% 28

0.57% 2

Q1 Which area of Wales do you live in?
Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 350  

Aneurin Bevan
UHB (Blaenau...

Betsi
Cadwaladr UH...

Cardiff & Vale
UHB (Cardiff...

Cwm Taf
Morgannwg UH...

Hywel Dda UHB
(Carmarthens...

Powys Teaching
Health Board...

Swansea Bay
UHB (Swansea...

Prefer not to
say

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Aneurin Bevan UHB (Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport, and Torfaen)

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB (Anglesey, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Gwynedd, and Wrexham)

Cardiff & Vale UHB (Cardiff, and Vale of Glamorgan)

Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB (Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil, and Rhondda Cynon Taf)

Hywel Dda UHB (Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire)

Powys Teaching Health Board (Powys)

Swansea Bay UHB (Swansea, and Neath Port Talbot)

Prefer not to say

Tudalen y pecyn 24



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

2 / 14

74.00% 259

26.00% 91

Q2 Has your mental health been negatively effected by the recent
coronavirus outbreak?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 25



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

3 / 14

37.71% 132

62.29% 218

Q3 Have you been able to access support from your GP in the last 2
weeks?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 26



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

4 / 14

26.00% 91

74.00% 259

Q4 Have you tried to seek support from mental health services in the last 2
weeks?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 27



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

6 / 14

53.43% 187

46.57% 163

Q6 Have you been told what is happening with services in your area?
Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 28



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

7 / 14

37.43% 131

63.14% 221

Q7 Have you had any services / visits / clinics cancelled in the last 2
weeks?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 350  

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 29



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

8 / 14

15.43% 54

84.57% 296

Q8 Have you or anyone you know experienced difficulty in contacting the
Community Mental Health Team over the last 2 weeks?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 30



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

9 / 14

55.14% 193

44.86% 157

Q9 Have you been told what you should do/who to contact to get support if
you feel your mental health is getting worse or you experience a crisis?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 31



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

10 / 14

2.29% 8

97.71% 342

Q10 Have you or anyone you know been an inpatient in a mental health
ward in the last 2 weeks?

Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 32



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

11 / 14

62.29% 218

39.43% 138

Q11 Are you self-isolating?
Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 350  

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 33



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

12 / 14

78.86% 276

21.14% 74

Q12 Have you been able to access shops?
Answered: 350 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 350

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 34



Survey on Wales' Mental Health during the Coronavirus Pandemic

13 / 14

22.92% 80

77.08% 269

Q13 Have you had any financial issues over the last 2 weeks?
Answered: 349 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 349

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

Tudalen y pecyn 35



    
 
 

 

Prif Swyddfa Hafal 
Uned B3  
Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics 
Llansamlet 
Abertawe 
SA7 9FE 

 

 

Hafal Head Office 
Unit B3 
Lakeside Technology Park 
Phoenix Way 
Landaulet 
Swansea 
SA7 9FE 
 

 

Mae Hafal yn gwmni cyfyngedig trwy warrant,  
wedi’i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Lloegr Rhif: 4504443 
Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg  
Swyddfa Gofrestredig Uned B3, Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics, Llansamlet, Abertawe, SA7 9FE 
Ffôn: 01792 816600, Ffacs: 01792 813056, 
 e-bost: hafal@hafal.org, Rhif Elusen: 1093747 

Hafal (meaning ‘equal’) is a company limited by guarantee,  
registered in England and Wales Number: 4504443 

Correspondence welcomed in Welsh and English  
Registered Office Unit B3, Lakeside Technology Park 

Phoenix Way, Llansamlet, Swansea,SA7 9FE 
Tel: 01792 816600, Fax: 01792 813056,  

e-mail: hafal@hafal.org, Charity Number: 1093747 
 

 

 
 
 
An open letter to Vaughan Gething, Minister for Health and Social Services 
 
 
Thursday 2nd April 2020 
 
Dear Minister 
 
Requesting your undertaking to protect people with a serious mental illness during the present 
crisis  
 
As Chair of mental health charity Hafal I am writing to you urgently to express my grave concerns 
about the safety of the most vulnerable mental health patients and their carers and families in Wales 
during the coronavirus outbreak and to seek your assurance that their safety will not be 
compromised. 
 
My concern is specifically for inpatients, including both voluntary inpatients and those held under 
the Mental Health Act, those in care homes and supported housing, and patients supported in the 
community by CMHTs, CAMHS, or other specialist services. 
 
An article published earlier this week on the University College of London Institute of Mental Health 
website captures the current challenge: “In this national emergency, it seems clear that those with the 
most severe and complex mental health needs are going to be at significantly higher risk of negative 
outcomes… We need to act now to prevent a catastrophic failure in care for those in our society with 
the highest vulnerability.” 
 
First, let me assure you that we are fully aware of the challenges posed by the coronavirus pandemic. 
We are making every possible effort to reconfigure services in response to the crisis, taking on all 
advice from the Welsh Government. We continue to provide vital support to our clients and stand 
ready to look at how we might be able to adapt capacity and expertise as part of the health and social 
care workforce. 
 
What I am asking from statutory services is that they also meet this huge challenge for this 
vulnerable group of patients. We need a guarantee that services will keep these patients and 
their families and carers safe in these difficult times.  
 
I am not, of course, talking about sustaining services as they are normally delivered. These are not 
normal times. We have a narrower ambition: simply to keep people safe from harm. 
 
 
This means: 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



 
1. Keeping our client group – who can sometimes live chaotic lives or have functional 

impairments – safe from coronavirus  
 

2. Keeping them safe from neglect, self-harm, and suicide  
 

3. Keeping their carers and families safe 
 

4. Mitigating the real danger from certain medications for mental illness, especially those which 
require regular testing. 

 
We are not confident that these essential goals will be met. We are witnessing the almost complete 
disappearance of CMHT support and access to clozapine clinics for our clients, early discharge from 
inpatient units, and closure of inpatient units with major reconfiguration of services seemingly 
focused on dementia beds. 
 
I do not need to tell you that it is essential that in-patients, including voluntary patients, are not 
discharged too early: it puts them at extreme risk. And how could it be justified? In-patient facilities 
are literally there to ensure the safety of people with a serious mental illness – and this almost the full 
extent of their remit. A service that is there essentially to keep patients safe is a service that cannot be 
significantly reduced. 
 
This extends to patients in care and to those living in the community who often have very high 
needs: it is vital that they receive continuing care and support from staff that meets clear criteria for 
maintaining safety, with routines of contact sustained. We note that specialist community services 
seldom do more than respond to concerns about safety: so there is little room for reduction in these 
services. 
 
It is important to note that providing services by phone or video conference will discriminate against 
individuals who do not have such technology - or are unable to use it. There should be 
multiple options for people to access their care; only providing telephone support does not allow for 
reasonable adjustments if a person does not want to or feel comfortable speaking over the phone.  
 
There are also specific issues relating to medication: people on clozapine need continued access to 
safe blood tests. Consultant psychiatrist James P Pandarakalam explains: “Hospital admissions due 
to pneumonia are higher among clozapine treated patients. So, even if clozapine does not add to the 
vulnerability, once patients on clozapine catch COVID-19, they may carry a higher risk of 
pneumonia and its complications.” 
 
We are concerned that there is no recognition of the increased risk faced by patients who take 
clozapine. This medication has such an impact on the immune system that monthly blood tests are 
required before a new prescription is made available. Many or all of these patients should surely be 
part of the shielding group identified and receive the appropriate level of support, food parcels, and 
monitoring. People on other medications such as lithium also need close monitoring. 
 
Finally, we are concerned about the variation between health boards in their approach to adapting for 
coronavirus, resulting in a ‘post code lottery’. Some national strategy or plan would help to reduce 
this variation between areas in Wales. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



    
 
 

 

Prif Swyddfa Hafal 
Uned B3  
Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics 
Llansamlet 
Abertawe 
SA7 9FE 

 

 

Hafal Head Office 
Unit B3 
Lakeside Technology Park 
Phoenix Way 
Landaulet 
Swansea 
SA7 9FE 
 

 

Mae Hafal yn gwmni cyfyngedig trwy warrant,  
wedi’i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Lloegr Rhif: 4504443 
Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg  
Swyddfa Gofrestredig Uned B3, Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics, Llansamlet, Abertawe, SA7 9FE 
Ffôn: 01792 816600, Ffacs: 01792 813056, 
 e-bost: hafal@hafal.org, Rhif Elusen: 1093747 

Hafal (meaning ‘equal’) is a company limited by guarantee,  
registered in England and Wales Number: 4504443 

Correspondence welcomed in Welsh and English  
Registered Office Unit B3, Lakeside Technology Park 

Phoenix Way, Llansamlet, Swansea,SA7 9FE 
Tel: 01792 816600, Fax: 01792 813056,  

e-mail: hafal@hafal.org, Charity Number: 1093747 
 

 

Let us be candid. These moments of stress on health and social services could bring out the old 
prejudices and place mental health at the bottom of the pile. But all lives are of equal value: 
protecting people with a serious mental illness from harm is on a par with protecting people from 
coronavirus. Having a mental illness should not mean someone waives the right to healthcare and the 
right to life. 
 
I would welcome a speedy response setting out how services will protect people with a serious 
mental illness as set out in this letter. Meanwhile Hafal is taking advice on the legal duties of mental 
health services and will take all action necessary to ensure these are not breached. 
 
I would also make an offer. If requested and provided with the necessary resources Hafal is prepared 
at very short notice to provide a basic level of support for community-based patients with a serious 
mental illness across Wales: our door is open. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Mair Elliott 
 
Chair 
 
Hafal 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



Vaughan Gething AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Minister for Health and Social Services 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref VG/01912/20 
 
Mair Elliot 
C/o alun.thomas@hafal.org 
Hafal Head Office 
Unit B3 
Lakeside Technology Park 
Phoenix Way 
Llansamlet 
Swansea  
SA7 9FE 

 
 

21 April 2020 
  
 
Dear Mair, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 2 April outlining your concerns about the impact of Covid-19 on 
mental health services and service users with more serious mental illness. 
 
As you will understand, these are unprecedented circumstances and we have taken a number 
of steps to support health boards to free up capacity and resources to respond to the 
immediate pressures of the Covid-19 pandemic. However, I can assure you that the Welsh 
Government is clear that a level of mental health support must be maintained and I can 
confirm that the Chief Executive of NHS Wales, Dr Andrew Goodall, wrote to all health boards 
on 14 April to set out our expectations for the continued delivery of mental health services 
during the period of the pandemic. Whilst there will be an impact on mental health services, 
as there will be with all critical services, I do expect continuity plans to ensure safe and 
sustainable mental health support which recognises the relevant legal safeguards and 
requirements. 
 
To support this, and to ensure that we maintain oversight of mental health services capacity 
and capability during this period, we have established a Welsh Government/NHS Mental 
Health Incident Group which is currently meeting on a twice weekly basis and includes Social 
Care Wales, Health Inspectorate Wales and Care Inspectorate Wales. Under the aegis of this 
national group officials are working closely with health boards to enable them to highlight 
issues and concerns in a systematic way. Health boards have also established Covid-19 
mental health leads who meet with my officials on a weekly basis to provide assurance on 
service continuity and to escalate issues of concern so that these can be dealt with at pace. 
Added to these arrangements for mental health statutory services my officials have also put 
in place weekly meetings with the Wales Alliance for Mental Health so that any concerns or 
queries can be escalated and dealt with quickly throughout this period.   
 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



In relation to the specific concerns you have raised regarding early discharge and closure of 
in-patients units, I can confirm that in-patient units remain open. Where appropriate and safe, 
patients have been supported to be cared for in the community in line with normal practice.  
We are not aware of any unsafe discharges and continue to receive assurance from health 
boards that this remains the case.  
 
You also raised concerns regarding Community Mental Health Teams and whilst I am 
aware that as part of the response to Covid-19 some community services have been 
consolidated, my expectation is that this is to ensure services can be sustained even with a 
potential reduction in staffing, and not to diminish or reduce the local support.  
 
On the issues that you have raised regarding the immune-suppression effects of Clozapine 
and potential Covid-19 risk for patients, I understand that my officials wrote to Hafal’s Chief 
Executive on 31 March to respond to these concerns. In terms of access to Clozapine 
clinics, health boards have provided assurance that all patients who require access to 
clozapine are receiving it. 
 
Whilst I recognise that all critical services will be impacted in some way by the pandemic, I 
hope I have provided you with reassurance that mental health services have been 
positioned as key services to be maintained during this time. However, if you are aware of 
any specific circumstances where you have concerns about the safety of care being 
provided, I would encourage you to raise that concern with the appropriate health board as 
a matter of urgency.  I would expect the health board to provide a thorough and satisfactory 
response to your concerns. 
 
I welcome Hafal’s support and the continued engagement with the weekly meetings that 
officials have established with the Wales Alliance for Mental Health to co-ordinate our efforts 
to support services users during this challenging period. These weekly meetings also the 
most appropriate mechanism for Hafal to raise, and to receive timely responses, to any future 
concerns during this period. 
 
Yours sincerely,  

 
Vaughan Gething AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Minister for Health and Social Services 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



    
 
 

 

Prif Swyddfa Hafal 
Uned B3  
Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics 
Llansamlet 
Abertawe 
SA7 9FE 

 

 

Hafal Head Office 
Unit B3 
Lakeside Technology Park 
Phoenix Way 
Landaulet 
Swansea 
SA7 9FE 
 

 

Mae Hafal yn gwmni cyfyngedig trwy warrant,  
wedi’i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Lloegr Rhif: 4504443 
Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg  
Swyddfa Gofrestredig Uned B3, Parc Technoleg Lakeside 
Ffordd y Ffenics, Llansamlet, Abertawe, SA7 9FE 
Ffôn: 01792 816600, Ffacs: 01792 813056, 
 e-bost: hafal@hafal.org, Rhif Elusen: 1093747 

Hafal (meaning ‘equal’) is a company limited by guarantee,  
registered in England and Wales Number: 4504443 

Correspondence welcomed in Welsh and English  
Registered Office Unit B3, Lakeside Technology Park 

Phoenix Way, Llansamlet, Swansea,SA7 9FE 
Tel: 01792 816600, Fax: 01792 813056,  

e-mail: hafal@hafal.org, Charity Number: 1093747 
 

 

An open letter to Vaughan Gething, Minister for Health and Social Services 
 
Thursday 23rd April 2020 
 
Dear Minister 
 
Thank you for your letter of 21st April 2020. However, I do not feel that your response has provided me with 
what I asked for – both as Chair of Hafal and as a service user. Put simply, I am still unclear about what I and 
other people who depend on specialist support can expect from mental health services during this difficult 
time. 
 
Dr Goodall’s letter on the 14 April to NHS Trusts refers to local business continuity plans as the place where 
temporary service arrangements will be spelled out: but without national guidance does this not create a post 
code lottery? Surely we need leadership from the top which sets minimum standards on key aspects of service 
delivery (and not just compliance with the Mental Health Measure which should go without saying) such as: 
how quickly we will be able to get hold of our key worker or care coordinator; how long it will take to be 
referred from primary to secondary services, how crisis services will deliver care; and how hospitals will 
ensure that inpatient beds are available, that patients are not discharged too early, or that they are not 
transported out of their local area for treatment. 
 
We urge you to set out national minimum standards urgently but meanwhile we request sight of the local 
business continuity plans (also as a matter of urgency) so that we can advise people with a mental illness on 
what to expect. I do not share Dr Goodall’s apparent optimism that these plans actually do set out details of 
what level of mental health service will be sustained during the crisis - I, of course, hope I am wrong. 
 
Like other patients I speak to, I am very keen to play my part during the Covid-19 crisis, mainly by having 
realistic expectations of services and being as accommodating as I can of any changes to delivery which 
inevitably have to be made. But to do this I need to know what the revised service is actually offering me. As 
a leader, I have a duty to Hafal’s members and client group: you will recall that Hafal's client group are all 
those people in Wales who are affected by serious mental illness including family and carers. Part of this duty 
is to ensure that our members and client group have clear information – whilst I can guarantee that Hafal will 
continue to provide high-quality services (many third sector peers can confidently do the same for their 
respective organizations), I cannot currently give clear information about statutory mental health services to 
our members. I understand the pressures that we all face at this time, however we are still in a democratic state 
and the public will hold those in power accountable when this crisis eventually subsides. 
 
I attach a copy of our bulletin “Coronavirus – Protecting People with a Serious Mental Illness” which we hope 
will inspire action by the Welsh NHS and others. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Mair Elliott 
Chair 
Hafal 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



 
 

PRESS STATEMENT 

03/04/20 

 
Statement on the discharge of mental health patients  

in North Wales during the pandemic 
 
Responding to the BBC report revealing that almost 1,700 mental health patients in North Wales 
have been wrongly discharged from support services during the pandemic, Hafal Chair Mair Elliott 
stated: 
 
"We are appalled but sadly not surprised to find that huge numbers of vulnerable mental health 
patients have been discharged by Betsi Cadwaladr Local Health Board in what they state is an 'error': 
the Board should of course have had a coherent plan to deliver a slimmed-down but sufficient 
mental health service which would keep patients safe but instead they have deserted their 
vulnerable patients and put them at risk. We are also gravely concerned that the number announced 
by the Health Board appears to be only a fraction of those who were affected by this approach.  
 
"We warned at the beginning of April that there was insufficient national guidance on how a safe 
level of mental health service would be maintained across Wales, and we have not seen credible 
information from Local Health Boards about what minimum service remained available to patients 
and how they can access it. I wrote to the Minister of Health on April 2nd warning that patients were 
being discharged from services and that support for those with the greatest needs was being 
severely reduced but did not get anything beyond vague assurances that Local Health Boards would 
cover these matters in their local plans - and yet in spite of repeated requests we have still not seen 
Local Health Boards' contingency plans for maintaining essential services.  
 
“A question that must be answered by the Minister is who has misled him? In his two responses to 
my letters he repeatedly confirmed that he had been assured that such matters were in hand and 
that we could be reassured that services were in place. Who gave these assurances to the Mr 
Gething, and why were they not followed up and fact checked? In the case of Betsi Cadwaladr, given 
that the Board is still in special measures, why weren’t their actions monitored or scrutinised? 
 
"So this is not a surprise at all - and we fear that because of the lack of national leadership and 
guidance patients may well have been let down in other parts of Wales as well. 
 
"Though it will be important to learn lessons, right now the priority is to fix the problem and ensure 
the safety of mental health patients: a good start would be for the Minister to issue guidance on the 
minimum service available throughout Wales; and this would need to revised, not less than every 
month, to indicate the increased level of service as the pressures from the pandemic diminish." 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



                   

ENDS 
For more information please contact Matt Pearce, Head of Communications, by email at 
matthew.pearce@hafal.org or by phone on 07812 107904. 

 

Notes to Editors 

1.  To download Mair Elliott’s correspondence with the Health Minister visit: 
https://www.hafal.org/2020/04/hafal-coronavirus-briefing/  

2.  Hafal is a leading Welsh charity supporting people of any age with a mental illness, physical illness or 
disability, and their families and carers. Covering all areas of Wales, Hafal is an organisation managed by 
the people it supports. For more information go to: www.hafal.org 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



AUTUMN 2020

We talk to a cross section 

of people about how 

mental health services 

should be delivered

when we emerge

from the Covid-19

pandemic

“I want the ‘new normal’ to be 
that people are treated with 
respect”

M
ENTALHEALTH W

ALES

Inside: Hafal’s 

Senedd Election 

2021 Manifesto 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



Read the full report at: childcomwales.org.uk2

Some of Wales’ most 

vulnerable children are being 

bounced between services who 

cannot agree who is 

responsible for their care, 

according to a new in-depth 

report published by the 

Children’s Commissioner for 

Wales, Professor Sally Holland 

(pictured).

According to the Commissioner,

in most areas of Wales children 

experiencing distress with mental 

health, emotional wellbeing and 

behavioural issues are not getting 

the help they need. She said that 

as the nation slowly and carefully begins to plan 

its recovery from the pandemic it is more 

important than ever to ensure services come 

together to provide tailored help that meets their 

individual needs, and avoids them having to 

navigate complicated systems and multiple 

sources of help. 

The Commissioner said getting support should be 

a simple and smooth process and that no child 

should be told that they are at the ‘wrong door’ 

when they ask for help. The Commissioner wants 

every part of Wales to take action towards a ‘no 

wrong door’ approach, learning from the practical 

examples from across Wales which are 

highlighted in her report and from the positive 

changes that have emerged in services as a 

result of the pandemic. 

The report sets out a series of recommendations 

for all Regional Partnership Boards around their 

duties, and for the Welsh Government, including 

the need for robust accountability mechanisms 

and to ensure funding, support and monitoring of 

work towards long-term strategies. The 

Commissioner has committed to meeting with 

every Regional Partnership Board again in 2021-

22 in order to check up on and evaluate their 

progress against her recommendations. Young 

people will be invited to accompany the 

Commissioner at these meetings. 

Professor Holland said: “We can and must 

completely change how some of our most 

vulnerable children’s needs are responded to. Too 

often, I hear of situations where health, social 

care and other professionals are, sometimes 

literally, arguing over the heads of children with 

complex needs; when they cannot agree who is 

responsible for their care. As one young person 

told me during this work: We need to unite to un-

complicate.”

Children’s Commissioner for Wales: ‘Major change needed’ in 
mental health and wellbeing care for vulnerable children

Tudalen y pecyn 45



3

Traumatic experiences leave 
mark on pupils, new study by 
Cardiff and Swansea 
Universities finds

Depression ‘doubles’ during 
coronavirus pandemic

NEWS

For more of the latest news visit: mentalhealthwales.net

The pupils of people with post-traumatic 

stress disorder respond differently to those 

without the condition when they look at 

emotional images, a new study has found. 

The study looked for traces of traumatic events in 

the eyes of patients with PTSD, which can occur 

following a distressing event and causes greater 

sensitivity, or hyperarousal, to everyday events 

and an inability to switch off and relax. 

Researchers measured pupil size while 

participants were shown threatening images, such 

as vicious animals or weapons, as well as other 

images that showed neutral events, or even 

pleasant images. 

They found the response of people with PTSD 

was markedly different, including to people who 

had been traumatised but did not have PTSD. 

At first, the pupil failed to show the normal sharp 

constriction that is caused by any new visual 

stimulus, but then their pupils grew even larger to 

the emotional stimuli than for the other 

participants.

Professor Robert Snowden from Cardiff 

University’s School of Psychology said: “The 

research suggests that these people are in a 

constant state of vigilance and react strongly to 

arousing images.” 

Another unexpected result was also found. The 

pupils of the patients with PTSD not only showed 

the exaggerated response to threatening stimuli, 

but also to stimuli that depicted “positive” images, 

such as exciting sports scenes. 

Read more @ cardiff.ac.uk 

In August the Office for National Statistics 

reported that twice as many adults in the 

United Kingdom were reporting symptoms of 

depression compared with the same time last 

year.

Almost one in five adults (19.2%) were likely to 

be experiencing some form of depression, 

indicated by moderate to severe depressive 

symptoms during the coronavirus pandemic 

(June 2020). This had almost doubled from 

around 1 in 10 (9.7%) before the pandemic (July 

2019 to March 2020). 

The ONS research examined data from the same 

3,500 British adults both before and during the 

pandemic. Statisticians found those most likely to 

say they had been affected by depression in 

June were younger adults (aged 16 to 39), 

women, those “unable to afford an unexpected 

expense”, and disabled people. 

Read more @ ons.gov.uk

Mental Health Wales is published by Hafal. If 

you have any comments, please contact us at:

Hafal, Unit B3 

Lakeside Technology Park 

Phoenix Way, Llansamlet 

Swansea SA7 9FE 

Email: hafal@hafal.org

Tel: 01792 816600

Facebook/Twitter: search for Hafal

We hope you found the latest issue of our 
journal useful! To support our work in providing 
the latest mental health news and information 
you can make a donation to Hafal at our 
JustGiving page.

Tudalen y pecyn 46



Do you think mental health is su ciently resourced, 
and how would you like to see the situa on change?  

No, I do not. There has always been a lack of resource 
in mental health services. In fact, I do not remember a 

me in which there was su cient resource to meet 
demand. The pandemic has highlighted this profound 
lack of resource. From a lack of era appropriate 
technology to a lack in sta  numbers, we’ve seen this 
resource de ciency impact those who need specialist 
care.  

I have seen across the whole of the health service that 
this pandemic and subsequent decision making has 
had a nega ve impact on pa ents with all di erent 
diseases, condi ons, disorders and illnesses. However, 
despite ‘reassurances’ from government and local 
health boards, mental health services have been hit 
badly. It appears to me that the progress made over 
the last couple of years to achieve parity between 
physical health and mental health was just an illusion. 
This pandemic has put specialist mental health 
services back at the bo om of the pile.  

I would like to see further protec on for mental health 
services, with higher level ring fencing of mental 

health monies. This means the money dedicated for 
mental health services will be be er protected. There 
needs to be a minimum percentage of health and 
social care budgets dedicated to mental health with 

exibility to expand to meet demand, par cularly as 
we recover from the recent pandemic.  

We need to restructure how we see ‘value for money’ 
by giving emphasis to pa ents’ wants, needs and 
ambi ons. Pa ents should have a much higher degree 
of choice in how resources are used to support them.  

 

Where speci cally do you think resources need to be 
focused?  

I think there is a good case to de ne the role and the 
boundaries of what mental health services can and 
should do. I see a movement towards medicalising 
normal or reasonable distress in the general public, 
which I nd really uncomfortable. It is okay to grieve 
for the loss of a loved one, or to feel low when life is 
throwing its curve balls at you, but to medicalise these 
normal experiences is to take a person’s agency away. I 
believe we need to re instate the boundaries of 
mental heath services as specialist health services for 
those who are experiencing di cul es above and 
beyond the normal or reasonable distress. It should 
not be the role of mental health services to be a 
wellbeing service for the whole of the general public. 
Therefore, funding for mental health services should 
not be diverted towards the mental wellbeing 
movement. The mental wellbeing of the wider 
popula on depends on individual responsibility, strong 
families, responsible employers, and good public 
services – not on mental health services.  

Going forward I would also like to see resources within 
mental health services focused on true and 
meaningful co produc on at the individual level 
through to the governance of services. I feel a system 
with meaningful coproduc on would reduce or even 

WHAT SHOULD THE NEW NORMAL  
FOR MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES LOOK 
LIKE? Here’s what you told us...

MAIR ELLIOTT, PATIENT ACTIVIST, CHAIR OF HAFAL

we need to restructure  
how we see ‘value for 

money’ by giving  
emphasis to pa ents’  

wants, needs and  
ambi ons

4

Tudalen y pecyn 47



stop coercion, gas ligh ng and medical trauma of 
pa ents. Meaningful coproduc on would look like the 
surrendering of power from medical sta , such as 
psychiatrists, to bring pa ents up to a level playing 

eld. What ‘co produc on’ I see at the moment is s ll 
very tokenis c.  

 

Moving forward, how should we be suppor ng the 
mental health and wellbeing of children and young 
people? 

The mental wellbeing of children and young people 
depends on suppor ve families, schools and colleges, 
and well supported training and work opportuni es. 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
should be there speci cally for young people who have 
serious mental health challenges; they should act 
quickly to resolve problems or sustain support for as 
long as needed. This will only be possible if there is a 
clear threshold of need for their services. 

But no child or young person should fall between 
di erent levels of support: mul agency considera on 
of all children in di culty should always result in a 
posi ve referral, whether to pastoral care within a 
school, advice services, primary care, or CAMHS as 
appropriate. 

Too many children are ‘treated’ with drugs for 
problems which arise from unstable family 
environments or insu cient educa onal support: this 
is a serious abuse, and it needs to change. 

 

We hear a lot these days about the ‘new normal’. 
What would you like the ‘new normal’ to be for 
people receiving mental health care? 

 
I would like to see a much higher degree of choice 
from the moment someone enters services to the day 
they are discharged from services. Care and treatment 
should not be something done to you, but a process of 

shared decision making, responsibility, mutuality and 
respect. I would like care and treatment to be focused 
around the needs and ambi ons of the pa ents, not 
the predetermined goals from a medical model of 
care. I would like the quality of Care and Treatment 
Plans (as required under the Mental Health Wales 
Measure 2010) to dras cally improve for all people 
accessing mental health services. I would also like to 
see the access to and availability of psychological 
therapies widened, with much more variety in what 
psychological therapies are available. CBT should not 
be the only op on for everybody.  

To put it simply, I want the new normal to be that 
people accessing services are treated with respect, are 
given choice and have appropriate treatments to meet 
their ambi ons in life.   

  

mentalhealthwales.net

I would like to see a much 
higher degree of choice  

from the moment someone 
enters services to the day 

they are discharged  
from services

I think there is a good case  
to de ne the role and the 

boundaries of what  
mental health services  

can and should do

Tudalen y pecyn 48



Do you think mental health is su ciently resourced, 
and how would you like to see the situa on change?  

 
Before the pandemic, mental health services were 
stretched and were not servicing all those that needed 
help and interven on. During the pandemic, there has 
been an increase in those being diagnosed with 
mental health problems and therefore increased 
pressure on services. This will require more funding to 
address the pressure. Funding for mental health 
services should be ring fenced at a higher level to deal 
with the increase and ensure all those who need 
support get it. 

 
Where do you think more resources need to be 
focused?  

I think more resources need to be available for those 
in mental health crisis. For example, giving more 
funding to frontline Community Mental Health Teams 
who deal with people in crisis on a regular basis and to 
hospital wards that currently aren’t running a 24 hour 
service would be very bene cial. When I was in a 
mental health crisis, the mental health ward at my 
local hospital wasn’t open when I needed support and 
I was sent home on the understanding I wouldn’t hurt 
myself. How many more people are being turned away 
in their me of need? Too many.

 
The visibility of mental health problems has 
increased during the pandemic. Going forward, how 
do we build on this awareness and combat the s gma 
surrounding mental illness? 

I think we build on this awareness by showing how 
we’re helping those a ected, how we’re providing the 
support that’s needed and how many lives will be 
changed through the government making the 
necessary changes. To combat the s gma, share more 
stories of people who have lived experience and how 
they’re a ected daily. Show that the government are 
taking mental health seriously and the posi ve impact 
their decisions will have on everyday people. 
 
I’ve found that sharing my story has not only been 
therapeu c for me but has made people more aware 
of s gma sed condi ons such as Borderline 
Personality Disorder. Sharing stories and crea ng 
posi ve conversa ons will help to combat the s gma 
surrounding mental health. 
 
What services and support would have been helpful 
for you?

Talking therapy from the NHS would have really helped 
me years ago when I was struggling with my mental 
health. I was put on a wai ng list and years later, am 
s ll wai ng. As men oned, having the local hospital 
mental health ward open 24 hours would have meant I 
got the help I needed in crisis instead of sending me 
home with my ancé and Mum and pu ng an 
emphasis on them to look a er me to ensure I didn’t 
do any more harm to myself. 
 
Do you feel there is enough emphasis on early 
interven on, and how can services be improved to be 
more responsive?

Early interven on is so important. I think we’re not 
helping people soon enough. Services only seem to be 
available to those who are at a cri cal stage and have 
almost passed the point of interven on. I think more 
educa on needs to be done with GPs so that they can 
recognise when someone would bene t from 
counselling or medica on or group support. It would 
also be good to let GPs know at what level 
interven on is needed and what help someone can 
access at what level. Mental health teams need to be 
given clearer guidelines on what interven on they can 
provide and if they can’t help, when to refer to other 
agencies for support.
 
Looking ahead, what changes would you like to see in 
primary care mental health support? And what would 
you like mental health care to look like in the future? 

BETH REES, TIME TO CHANGE WALES CHAMPION

4

6

Tudalen y pecyn 49



mentalhealthwales.net

I absolutely think that primary care could be more 
e ec ve in referring people to appropriate support. 
The average person wan ng help won’t know where to 
turn or how to get help so these teams need to keep 
that in mind, even if it’s direc ng people to guided 
self help routes, for example. From personal 
experience, I think mental health care has go en more 
pa ent focussed. Whenever I’m in crisis and have seen 
my GP, they have always asked me what I think about 
their sugges ons, do I have any comments about it 
and is there anything they can do that hasn’t been 
suggested. I know this isn’t the same for everyone. 
Before I moved, the health board I was with previously 
didn’t seem to take my mental health or my concerns 
seriously. A er I moved and changed health boards, 
I’ve had a much more posi ve experience. 
 
In the future, this care should be accessible to all who 
need it. It should be t for purpose and make people 

with mental health condi ons feel empowered and 
part of the process of managing their minds. With 
more funding, be er educa on and sharing more 
experiences, I would hope that mental health care in 
future would be a posi ve experience for more people. 

I absolutely think that 
primary care could be  

more e ec ve in  
referring people to 

appropriate support

SHARON JONES, CARER, HAFAL DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Do you think mental health is su ciently resourced, 
and how would you like to see the situa on change?  

No, I don’t think it is su ciently resourced. Mental 
health has always been known as the ‘Cinderella’ of 
services because it is so under funded. This has been 
exposed during the Covid 19 pandemic which has 
posed huge challenges for mental health services and 
revealed the vulnerability of those services when the 
wider NHS comes under pressure. During the pandemic 
we witnessed the disappearance of CMHT support and 
early discharge from services. Mental health went back 
to the bo om of the pile, as it were. 

Mental health services need a larger percentage of the 
health budget – not least to recognise the increased 
and las ng pressure on mental health services arising 
from the pandemic. It’s not about giving mental health 

a special priority, it’s simply about making the 
alloca on of resources re ect the needs of pa ents in 
Wales.  

Where do you think more resources need to be 
focused?  

Mental health services are losing their way: there is an 
urgent need for them to de ne their role clearly, 
refocus their work, and avoid medicalising normal life 
events.                                                                 

con nued... 

mental health services  
need a larger percentage  

of the health budget 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



Funding for mental health should not be diverted to 
support the responsibili es of public facing general 
services to protect the mental wellbeing of their 
clients. It should focus on those with problems above a 
clear threshold of need.  

Mental health services at primary care level should 
support those who require health care and redirect 
those whose problems are not ones of health. 
Specialist mental health services should give priority to 
those in greatest need, aiming to assist those pa ents 
receiving higher end services to achieve recovery and 
move down into lower level support services, as this 
will have the greatest impact in terms of improving 
people's lives  and addi onally in reducing the cost of 
their care and treatment.  

The current Together for Mental Health strategy, now 
approaching its end, needs to be replaced with a more 
focused plan aiming as a priority to achieve speci c 
outcomes for those who need to use mental health 
services. 

What improvements are needed in the way carers are 
supported in their role?  

Carers and families should be treated with more 
respect and have a clearer role in the recovery of the 
people they care for – and this role should be formally 
agreed. A er all, they are the ones who are likely to 
provide the most care for the person concerned, and 
who know them best. Too o en, families and carers 
are not listened to or engaged with by services, which 
means they are missing out on vital informa on.  

Mental health services should “contract” with carers 
as a third party so that each partner – pa ent, service, 
and carer – agrees their contribu on to the pa ent’s 
care and recovery. 

How can the quality and roll out of carers’ 
assessments be improved?  

Recent evidence shows that the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act is not being fully implemented across 
Wales: this is something the Welsh Government needs 
to address urgently, as this gives carers the same rights 
as those they care for.  

Because the Act isn’t being fully implemented across 
Wales, not enough mental health carers are receiving 
the needs assessments which they are en tled to, and 
even those who do receive assessments are not 
necessarily receiving comprehensive assessments of 
their needs. The focus doesn’t just need to be on 
ensuring all carers in Wales have an assessment: there 
needs to be a focus on quality as well. Assessments 
need to address not only what carers need to ful l 
their role as a carer, but also their personal support 
needs. For example, are they ge ng help to maintain 
their employment? Are their physical health needs 
being met? Are they having opportuni es to have a 
social life?

specialist mental health 
services should give 
priority to those in 

greatest need

carers and families should 
be treated with more 

respect and have a clearer 
role in the recovery of  

the people they  
care for 

8

Tudalen y pecyn 51



Suzanne Duval is BME Mental Health Manager for 
Diverse Cymru and was awarded the Bri sh Empire 
Medal (BEM) in the 2018 Queen’s Birthday Honours 
List for dedica ng 18 years of work and ac vism 
within the BME (Black and Minority Ethnic) Mental 
Health sector in Wales. Suzanne told us about how 
she would like equality to be at the heart of services 
in the future… 

“Mental health is the fastest growing pandemic in the 
world. But it doesn’t seem that services have 
anywhere near enough money.   

“The saying goes that ‘preven on is be er than cure’, 
so I would say let’s focus on preven on to stop 
escala on, but that has to be a focused ac on as ‘one 
size does not t all’.  And of course, in an ideal world 
all services should have a recovery remit. 

“We should always try and prevent the medicalisa on 
of life problems. Not all appearances of illness need 
medica on. Some mes, people ‘feel’ they need 
something and a lot of GPs will oblige.  We can’t have 
it all ways, asking for something and ge ng it and 
then it turns out we shouldn’t have had it in the rst 
place, but we think/feel much be er for having it or 
being denied it (like they do now with an bio cs) and 
then ge ng it from the internet/pushers, etc.   

“In the Mental Health Act Review of 2018 it states 
quite clearly in there that there are ‘profound 
inequali es’ for people from ethnic minority 
communi es accessing mental health treatment and it 
calls for cultural competency in services.   

“We once did a roadshow around Wales and we went 
to six of the seven health board areas to talk to BME 
people about their good and bad experiences with the 
mental health system, and some of the stories they 
told us were terrible. I can’t believe that in the Twenty
First Century we are dealing with Seventeenth Century 
a tudes.  

“Black men are s ll far more likely to be in the mental 
health system. Their route into the mental health 
system is rarely through the doctors or the community 
mental health team. It’s usually through the judicial 
system.  

“Equality needs to be at the heart of services. This can 
be achieved through taking up the Diverse Cymru 
Cer ca on Scheme which is endorsed by the Royal 
College of Psychiatrists in Wales and equips services 
with skills and tools to enable them to think and act in 
a culturally competent way: not only to their 
pa ents/clientele, but to each other and the wider 
community.  It becomes ‘second nature’. 

“I think what’s some mes missing in prac ce is 
humanity. It’s not about people not being poli cally 
correct. They’ve lost their humanity. They need to see 
someone as a person and treat them appropriately.”  

SUZANNE DUVAL BEM, BME MENTAL HEALTH MANAGER, 
DIVERSE CYMRU 

I can’t believe that in the 
Twenty First Century we  

are dealing with 
Seventeenth Century 

a tudes 

I think what’s some mes 
missing in prac ce is 

humanity

diversecymru.org.uk

Tudalen y pecyn 52



During the summer Hafal asked a hundred people from across Wales about what needs to 

change in mental health services in the medium-to-long term. Participants strongly agreed with 

all of the following statements. They were also asked to suggests how the points could be 

turned into action. Here’s some of the feedback... 

1. Resources for Mental Health and Social Care – mental health should be given the same priority as 

physical health care when it comes to funding 

How we can turn this into action?
“More money into mental health services, more staff, a faster referral system” 

“It has to be enthroned in law that mental health services receive equal priority for funding in order that 

waiting times and the range of services are improved” 

“The whole of health needs to be looked at afresh so that resources are put where they are needed most” 

2. Prudent Mental Health Care – mental health services need to focus on those most in need while 

other agencies such as schools and employers should take more responsibility for people’s 

general wellbeing 

How we can turn this into action?
“People who are very ill need quick access to services so they should be a priority for referrals” 

“Employers need support to train staff to support others” 

“Better education and support for employers so a pathway to support is available as required” 

“Regular sessions in schools to encourage children to take care of their mental health’

3. Young People – those seeking help with a mental health problem should always get a positive 

response from their school, college, employer or mental health services

How we can turn this into action?
“Clear pathways for support CPNs attached to schools” 

“Access to advice and support for schools so they know how to respond to someone experiencing mental 

health issues” 

“Young ambassadors who have experienced and who are trained to signpost” 

10

Tudalen y pecyn 53



4. Empowerment and Choice – users should be supported to make their own plan for recovery and 

to choose between care and treatment options 

How we can turn this into action?
“Involve people in decisions that affect them” 

“Involve the service user in the care plan, ask questions give clear simple info so they can make a choice” 

“Having control over your own life surely helps recovery, and someone is more likely to stick to recovery if 

they have had a say on it” 

5. Carers and Families – should be respected as key partners by services and supported both in 

their caring role and personally 

How we can turn this into action?
“Include them in every plan, allow for them to be part of the decision making processes” 

“Carers and families need to be more involved and included in decisions” 

“Keep the line of communication open to carers” 

6. Diversity and Fairness – mental health services should ensure that all groups are supported

How we can turn this into action?
“Far more to be done for vulnerable groups, particularly LGBTQI+, BAME and homeless people across 

Wales”

“Diversity training as part of qualification/employment training” 

“Access, inform and maintain contacts within all communities” 

Finally Hafal asked: are we missing anything important? Let us know your ideas about what needs 

to change in mental health services. 

This is a sample of the comments they received: 

“More out of hours services and a mental health A & E” 

“Far more counseling services should be attached to every GP / Health Centre and funded accordingly” 

“More Occupational Therapists to drive through the philosophy of empowering individuals to take an active 

role in their care” 

“Far more needs to be done to assist those people with mental health issues who are detained by the 

police”

“Too much pressure is placed on our local police services to deal with individuals with mental ill health” 

“First and foremost, if you say ‘I'll talk to you soon', do it. I've been struggling. My doctor called me once in 

12 weeks”

“Staff need to actually care for the people they support and have the users best interests at heart” 

“More multiagency working” 

“The earlier the intervention the better the outcome” 

“Early engagement is paramount in the success of treatment” 

“What is required is a cultural shift in our view of mental health and a greater commitment to recovery” 

“More communication with the patient in hospital and in the community” 

“It seems a shame that people seeking help are often forced to escalate presentation to achieve help, e.g. 

an increase in self harm or attempts at taking their life before services see them as severe enough to 

require help’ 

“GP Cluster commissioning is ad hoc and has created postcode lottery access to services, even within the 

same UHBs” 

“Access to psychological therapies in particular is especially dire”

mentalhealthwales.net

Tudalen y pecyn 54



Jo Roberts is a mental health campaigner who was on 
the receiving end of the Mental Health Act for over 
30 years. In the past she has received compulsory 
treatment; some of that treatment was deeply 
unpleasant and even terrifying. Jo is campaigning for 
a progressive Mental Health Act t for the 21st 
Century – an Act that gives pa ents and carers in 
Wales and beyond a fairer deal. We spoke to Jo about 
what she wants future mental health care to look 
like... 

Do you think mental health is properly resourced? 
Where do you think more resources should be 
focused?  

From my experience, I think a lot more resources need 
to go into trea ng a mental illness as quickly as 
possible and improving in pa ent care.  

Over the years I’ve spoken to so many people who 
have been seriously ill and too many of them had to 
reach a crisis point before anything was done. Of 
course, by this me they were so ill that it was a 
mountain to climb to get be er. The point is that 
mental illness is really treatable, even serious 
condi ons like schizophrenia and bipolar. And like any 
illness, if it’s caught early then the impact on the 
pa ent’s life is far less. Just think of cancer treatment. 

In pa ent care also needs to be overhauled. I know 
this would cost a lot of money, but the savings in the 
longer term would be huge. The problem I’ve found is 
that while hospital care is very, very expensive the 
accommoda on is o en grim and there is no real 
recovery focus, which means pa ents don’t recover 
quickly and are locked away for years and years at 
great personal cost to them, and at great cost to tax 
payers as well. If the investment was made and they 
were turned into therapeu c places with a clear 
recovery path, it would have a big impact on people’s 
recovery – and for many, this would avoid very long 
and costly stays in hospital. 

What should this kind of in pa ent care look like?  

There is a need to have minimum standards for 
hospitals. Some are simply not good places to be. 
These standards should include private rooms, gender 
segrega on if chosen, access to phone and email, and 
educa on and recrea onal opportuni es every day. 
And hospitals need to provide a decent, therapeu c 
environment – not something that looks like a prison. 

When I was in hospital up in Northampton, it was run 
on points: I had to earn these points to be able to 
phone my family once a week. We had to claim points 
every hour. If you swore or raised your voice you lost a 
point. If you lost three points in a day you were put 
into a ‘blank’ room – all walls, no windows. You’d stay 
there for 24 hours. No compassion was showed by 
sta  because everything was points orientated – they 
were not allowed to show emo on. 

JO ROBERTS, PATIENT ACTIVIST 

a lot more resources need 
to go into trea ng a  

mental illness as quickly  
as possible and improving 

in pa ent care

in future, compulsion  
should be balanced with 

rights for pa ents 

12

Tudalen y pecyn 55



It’s really important that a choice of loca on is o ered 
as well – for example whether to go to a local hospital 
or travel further to a specialist unit. When I became ill 
I was sent far away so that my family couldn’t visit, and 
this had a really nega ve impact on both me and my 
family. 

In pa ents need choice in other areas, too. Anyone 
detained under the Mental Health Act should have the 
op on to access a personal health budget based on 
the cost of in pa ent care so they can design and 
purchase their own treatment and care package at an 
independent hospital or in the community. And if they 
lack capacity then they should be supported by a team 
of guardians as chosen by them. There should also be 
a minimum, guaranteed choice of treatments available 
to all pa ents subject to compulsion – including 
psychological therapies. 

What do we need from a new Mental Health Act, and 
how can it deliver pa ent rights and choice?  

Fixing the law on mental health is a wider issue than 
just reforming the rules on who can be detained. It is 
about a fundamental shi  away from coercion and 
towards respect and dignity. 

The Mental Health Act has ed everybody in knots 
over the jus ca on for using compulsion. In reality 
the only jus ca on for detaining someone is to 
ensure people’s safety. 

In future, compulsion should be balanced with rights 
for pa ents – and not just when compulsion becomes 
necessary but well before that. Legal rights to care and 
treatment would prevent the need for compulsion in 
many cases. When safety is at stake then the law 
should be able to intervene – but it should be available 
to the pa ent to sa sfy the need for safety by means 
of their choice so long as safety is achieved. 

I understand that compulsion is some mes necessary 
but it is always frightening, expensive, and counter
produc ve in terms of mental health. The most 
valuable change for all concerned would be to reduce 
the use of compulsion safely. Also, the law may be 
required to ensure safety but it should never be used 
to compel people to accept a par cular course of care 
and treatment at a par cular place – or to accept a 
substandard environment.  

I think it’s barbaric that in this day and age, people 
who are very seriously ill are treated as criminals. 
Other civilised countries understand that we should 
dis nguish clearly between crimes commi ed 
purposefully and harm caused unwi ngly by people 
whose illness has overwhelmed their judgement. We 
have an awful lot of catching up to do, and a new Act 
gives us that opportunity. 
 

Many people in mental health crisis nd themselves 
inappropriately embroiled in the Criminal Jus ce 
System. How can this be changed? 

Basically we need a new, specialised pathway for 
people with a serious mental illness who enter the 
criminal jus ce system. This pathway needs to protect 
them from the damaging and trauma c environments 
of deten on, courts, and imprisonment. Wherever 
possible it should divert them to the most appropriate 
service at each opportunity along the pathway. 

Nobody with a serious mental illness should be in a 
police cell or prison. Back when I rst reached crisis no 
beds were available so I was sent to prison for a 
fortnight, which is ridiculous. In all circumstances, 
hospital and other specialised provision should be 
available – with appropriate levels of security, of 
course – whether or not any o ence was directly 
connected to a mental illness.  

While prison is s ll used the needs of women and 
young people need to be addressed. We need to 
ensure appropriate provision is available close to 
home, in Wales. 

At every stage, recovery and rese lement should be 
the foremost priority. Care and Treatment Plans 
required under the Mental Health Measure provide a 
prac cal model for this.  

Read Jo’s Blog on the reform of the Mental Health Act 
at: hafal.org/josblog

we need a new, specialised 
pathway for people with a 

serious mental illness  
who enter the criminal 

jus ce system

mentalhealthwales.net

Tudalen y pecyn 56



Gellinudd Recovery Centre is an interna onal award
winning in pa ent facility near Swansea which places 
peer support and pa ent empowerment at the heart 
of its service delivery. We spoke to the ground
breaking Centre’s Consultant Psychiatrists Dr Clare 
Cribb and Dr Ian Collings about what they would like 
the ‘new normal’ for mental health services to look 
like... 

Do you think mental health is su ciently resourced, 
and how would you like to see the situa on change? 

CLARE: There is a growing recogni on of the need for 
integrated healthcare, i.e. recogni on of the fact that 
physical and mental health problems co exist in up to 
40% of all healthcare presenta ons. Historically we 
have separated physical and mental healthcare out 
when planning services with signi cantly less resource 
allocated to mental healthcare. I would certainly like to 
see greater focus on reducing social inequality, which 
plays a big part in the genesis of what we call mental 
illness. 
 
IAN: It is cri cal that funding for mental health 
services is ring fenced and increased in real terms. 
Resources in my view need to be targeted toward 
preven on and educa on, par cularly in younger 
adults and children. It is en rely understandable that 
we are all focused on the Covid pandemic and the risk 
of further waves in the winter but we need to be 
prepared for a tsunami of mental health problems in 
every age group as a direct consequence of the 
pandemic. The causes of this are complex but related 
to direct impact and indirectly through lockdown and 
increased social isola on. We have seen a report 
recently that the prevalence of people with depressive 
symptoms has doubled during the pandemic. These 
rates will no doubt be also seen in anxiety disorders, 
self harm and suicide. 
 
Where do you think more resources need to be 
focused? 

 
CLARE: We urgently need investment in care for those 
with serious mental illness, simply to provide adequate 
and humane care to those in acute need. The closure 
of mental health beds over the last 10 15 years has 
created a culture in which only those whose behaviour 
is very risky are able to access services, and I worry 
that a great many people are not receiving the care 
they need. 
 
IAN: All services need increased resources but we do 
need to move towards a society that promotes mental 
wellbeing and educates people about mental 
wellbeing from an early age: this is why schools are so 
cri cal. Generally I am a huge fan of early interven on 
services; it makes sense that if you can intervene 
earlier with a biopsychosocial approach to treatment 
you can improve outcomes immeasurably.  
 
CLARE: I am a big fan of the approach used for mental 
health services in Finland (Open Dialogue) in which the 
en re family or network of the pa ent is called in to 
work with professionals and promote dialogue right 
from the rst ‘crisis’. I believe that all mental health 
prac oners should have a basic training in how to 
meet with families to facilitate communica on and 
then have the capacity to o er this support in their 
work. 
 
You provide care at an award winning mental health 
hospital. Why is the service so innova ve, and what 
would you like in pa ent care to look like in the 
future?  
 
CLARE: Gellinudd has compassion and respect for its 
pa ents at the heart of its approach. The aim there is 
to create a homely environment with a mixture of 
mental health professionals and peer mentors. These 
mentors have a speci c exper se when suppor ng 
pa ents in their recovery, and are not something you 
would nd in many NHS or private sector hospitals. 
 
IAN: For me it is so innova ve because of the level of 
service user involvement it has had in its development. 
All services should aspire to be developed in a truly co
produc ve way. For the future I would like to see 
mental health services developed around the 
community and the individual that lives in that 
community. They should not be on the periphery of 
the community. Mental health services should be 
much more embedded and seamless with primary 
care so people can access acute mental health services 
and even, if necessary, inpa ent services in their own 
community. This does require investment. From my 
perspec ve as a rehab psychiatrist, rehab services in 

DR CLARE CRIBB & DR IAN COLLINGS, CONSULTANT 
PSYCHIATRISTS, GELLINUDD RECOVERY CENTRE

we urgently need 
investment in care for those 
with serious mental illness, 
simply to provide adequate 

and humane care to  
those in acute need

clare cribb

14

Tudalen y pecyn 57



the future should be a hub and spoke model with the 
hub being community support/placements and the 
spokes encompassing asser ve outreach services and 
inpa ent services. At present our rehab services seem to 
be the other way around.  
 
How can we increase pa ent choice in future? 
 
IAN: Pa ent choice is cri cal to all parts of the health 
system be that cancer treatment or mental health 
treatment. We should embrace a health service where 
we strive for excellence and service users have a say and 
can choose our services based on that. However as we 
move more to a internal market in terms of services this 
could mean some services get le  behind and I am not 
sure that is the philosophy of the NHS because you may 

nd that those without a voice might be also le  behind. 
The approach needs to be thought through and not leave 
services behind. 
 
CLARE: I would prefer the word ‘agency’ to ‘choice’. In 
my experience, people in the middle of a mental health 
crisis just want to be o ered good, local, reliable care 
rather than a range of choices. The mental work of 
decision making is beyond most people who are ill 
enough to need admission. The ongoing climate of 
austerity and consequent closure of beds means that in 
reality clinicians are lucky to nd a bed anywhere, let 
alone be able to o er choices. I would worry therefore 
about a focus on providing choice when rst we need to 
ensure that the service is available at all. 
 
What would you like to see from the new Mental 
Health Act? 

CLARE: Many of us working in mental health would like 
to see changes that bring the Act more in line with 
mental capacity legisla on, i.e. we all have as much right 
to accept or refuse treatment for what is labelled mental 
illness as we do for physical health treatments. I 

welcome the proposed increased focus on family and 
carers rights. Having been a carer myself for a family 
member detained under the Act, I am well aware of the 
inconsistencies and confusion that can arise. 
 
IAN: From a service user perspec ve I would suggest 
more regular opportuni es for review of care/deten on 
by independent bodies such as the mental health 
tribunal with responsibili es to not only assess the 
lawfulness of deten on but also give advice on 
treatment op ons. I would like the Mental Health Review 
Tribunal to be less adversarial too. 
 
From my perspec ve I would be keen if there was less 
bureaucracy to give me more me to support service 
users. I suppose ul mately the ques on is should the Act 
be more capacity based; I would be keen to see how the 
revised Act in Northern Ireland, which has become more 
capacity based, is evaluated before I reach a conclusion 
on that.  

it makes sense that if you can 
intervene earlier with a 

biopsychosocial approach to 
treatment you can improve 

outcomes immeasurably

For more information on Gellinudd Recovery Centre visit:  gellinudd.org.uk

Gellinudd Recovery Centre

ian collings

Tudalen y pecyn 58



 For more info on NCMH visit: ncmh.info16

The pandemic and the restric ons it has caused 
has had an e ect on everyone but it has been 
par cularly di cult for people with mental 
health problems.  
  
At the Na onal Centre for Mental Health (NCMH), 
we have launched a new study into the impact the 
Covid 19 pandemic has had on those living with 
mental health condi ons.  
  
Professor Ian Jones, director of NCMH, said: “The 
Covid 19 crisis has already had an incredible 
impact. At NCMH we want to ensure that the 
par cular experiences of people with mental 
health problems aren’t forgo en.  
  
“We would like to understand how the crisis has 
a ected your day to day life and what it has 
meant for the treatment and support you are 
receiving.”  
 
  
Some ndings so far  
  
We had a great early response to the survey when 
we launched in June and really appreciate people 
taking the me to complete it. Our researchers 
have begun analysing the responses from more 
than 3,300 people.  
  
1,318 people reported experiencing worse 
mental health symptoms during the pandemic 
and 463 people shared that they had struggled 
to access medica on.  

In the sec on regarding employment, 868 people 
stated they were keyworkers, while 679 worked 
from home. 487 people reported a loss of income 
due to the pandemic.  
  
This data is vital in understanding the mental 
health consequences of this unprecedented me 
in human history. 
 
Taking part  
  
We want as many people as possible to complete 
the survey. It is open to everyone over the age of 
18 who has experienced a mental health 
condi on.   
  
Both new par cipants who are not already a part 
of our NCMH cohort study and those who have 
already helped with NCMH research are invited to 
take part.  
  
Professor Jones said: “It’s vital we understand the 
impact of the Covid 19 crisis on those living with 
mental illness. We hope the ndings of this study 
will help inform the NHS and policymakers to 
provide be er services and support. 
 
"I would like to say thank you in advance for 
helping us make a di erence.”  
  
More informa on about the study and how you 
can take part can be found on the NCMH website 
ncmh.info/covid 19   

Understanding the 
impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on people 
living with mental health 
problems

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Mair’s Manifesto

MY NAME IS MAIR ELLIOTT AND I’M CHAIR OF 

WELSH CHARITY HAFAL. ON BEHALF OF 

HAFAL’S MEMBERS ACROSS WALES I AM 

ASKING SENEDD ELECTION 2021 CANDIDATES 

TO PLEDGE THEIR SUPPORT FOR:-

Increasing the spend on mental health and ensuring that resources 
for mental health are fully protected: both NHS funding and 

funding provided to local authorities for mental health social care 

Improving support for carers across Wales so that they can 
achieve a better quality of life

Increasing access to psychological therapies

Improving support for young people and ensuring that specialist 
CAMHS only deal with the much smaller numbers of young people 

with the highest needs

Inside: find out more about the key issues - and how you can 
raise them with candidates...

VOTE FOR

MENTAL 
HEALTH!

Developing and delivering a new mental health strategy which 
prioritises those with the greatest need and supports a service-

user centred mental health system

SENEDD ELECTIONS: 6 May 2021

 

MAIR’S 
Manifesto

Tudalen y pecyn 60



WHY DOES THIS ELECTION MATTER?

WHAT ARE THE ISSUES CONCERNING OUR MEMBERS?

The Senedd Election 2021 is important to people with a mental illness and 
their carers: health matters are devolved to the Welsh Parliament and 
there are some other key areas which are addressed in the Senedd 

including Education, Housing and Social Care.

As a Member-led organisation we know from experience what issues 
face people in Wales with a mental illness and their carers every day. 
During Summer 2020 we ran our “Talk to Hafal’ campaign, speaking to 
people across the country about what they want from services in the 

future, and from the next Welsh Government. These are the priorities  
we identified:

1. MENTAL HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE NEED GREATER RESOURCES 
 
Funding for mental health services should be set at a higher level – not least to 
recognise the increased and lasting pressure on mental health services arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic. This funding should be applied as minimum percentage of 
health and social care budgets, and the ring-fenced percentage should be expanded 
as necessary to achieve parity with other health and social care needs. Funding for 
mental health should not be diverted to support the responsibilities of public-facing 
general services to protect the mental wellbeing of their clients. Value for money 
should be ensured through commissioning services based squarely on patients’ 
needs. 
 

2. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES NEED TO FOCUS ON THOSE WITH THE 
HIGHEST NEEDS 

 
There is an urgent need for mental health services to define their role clearly, 
refocus their work, and avoid medicalising normal life events. There is also a need 
for mental health services to focus on achieving specific outcomes. 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



The welcome recognition in recent years that mental wellbeing is an issue for 
everybody does not mean that mental health services should expand their role. 
Specialist mental health services should give priority to those in greatest need, aiming 
to assist those patients receiving higher end (and more expensive) services to 
achieve recovery and move down into lower-level support services, as this will have 
the greatest impact in terms of improving people's lives - and additionally in reducing 
the cost of their care and treatment. These high-level interventions need to be 
provided quickly.  
 

3. FOCUS YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ON THOSE WITH THE 
HIGHEST NEEDS AND SUPPORT SCHOOLS, COLLEGES, AND EMPLOYERS TO 

PROVIDE PASTORAL CARE TO YOUNG PEOPLE WITH LOWER LEVEL PROBLEMS 
 
The mental wellbeing of children and young people depends on supportive families, 
schools and colleges which take their responsibility for pastoral care seriously, and 
well-supported training and work opportunities. 
 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) should be available immediately 
for young people who have serious mental health challenges; they should act quickly 
to resolve problems or sustain support for as long as needed. This will only be 
possible if there is a clear threshold of need for their services. But no child or young 
person should fall between different levels of support and they should always 
receive a positive referral to an appropriate source of help. 
 

4. PATIENTS NEED MORE OF A SAY ON THE SERVICES THEY USE 
 
Patients using mental health services at all levels should be empowered to exercise 
choice. For example, patients in secondary mental health services should all have a 
Care and Treatment Plan as required under the Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010. 
Typically these Plans are constrained by the availability of services commissioned 
through traditional assessments of need. This position should be reversed: all 
secondary mental health services should be commissioned by reference to these 
Plans. Patients should be able to access funding for psychological treatments of their 
choice from any approved provider, and - if they need hospital care - where 
practicable have a choice of which hospital they go to. 
 

5. CARERS AND FAMILIES NEED BETTER SUPPORT TOO 
 
Carers and families need to be treated as key partners in the provision of mental 
health services. Carer assessments should address both what carers need to fulfil 
their role as a carer and their personal support needs. Support for carers should 
cover their need to sustain or gain employment and access to benefits as 
appropriate. Mental health services should “contract” with carers as a third party so 
that each partner – patient, service, and carer – agrees their contribution to the 
patient’s care and recovery. 
 
To address these 5 priorities we also need: 
> Action to address inequalities in mental health care, especially for black and 

minority ethnic communities 
> Appointment of a Minister for Mental Health to protect the interests of those who 

use mental health services and to lead the essential changes required to mental 
health care 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 62



Remember to have your say and use your vote!

WHAT SHOULD I BE ASKING MY LOCAL CANDIDATES?

HOW SHOULD I APPROACH MY CANDIDATE?

> Ring, email or videocall your candidate’s office - you could visit their office 
either on your own or in a group, or set up a conference call 

> If you meet in person or virtually with your candidate be specific with your 
questions and get them to guarantee what their party will do - write down 
what they say, or get them to write it down 

> Follow up your visit or call with a letter to emphasise your points 
> You can also attend local hustings. Again, remember to make a note of 

candidates’ answers to your questions!

Ask your local candidates about any local or national issues that are 
important to you. These are some suggested questions about the  

main issues:- 
 

> How will you ensure that mental health services are properly resourced and 
get a fair slice of the cake? 

> How will you ensure that specialist mental health services give priority to 
those in greatest need and are available as quickly as possible? 

> How will you ensure that Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) are available immediately for young people who have serious 
mental health challenges? 

> How will you ensure that patients using mental health services are 
empowered to exercise choice? 

> How will you ensure that the needs of carers and families of people with a 
mental illness are met? 

Hafal is a registered charity, number 1093747, and a  
registered company, number 4504443 ibgbm.org

Tudalen y pecyn 63



1 

v

Mind Cymru’s response to the Health, Social 
Care & Sport Committee’s Inquiry into the 
impact of the Covid-19 outbreak, and its 
management, on health and social care in 
Wales 
About Mind Cymru 

We’re Mind Cymru, the mental health charity. We work nationally and locally. 

Nationally, we campaign to raise awareness, promote understanding and drive change. 
We’re also the first point of call for information and advice, providing mental health 
information to people in Wales over a million times every year. Locally, in communities 
across Wales, independent local Minds provide life-changing face-to-face support to more 
than 25,000 people each year.  

Together, we won’t give up until everyone experiencing a mental health problem gets 
support and respect. 

We welcome the opportunity to provide written evidence to the Committee on the impact 
of the pandemic on people’s mental health in Wales 

Background 

It is important to note that even before the pandemic mental health services were under 
considerable pressure with growing demand with some people waiting a considerable 
time before being able to access support. 

Mental health has been the subject of several inquiries by various Senedd Committees in 
recent years, with more planned before the end of the term. These inquiries have 
highlighted the significant challenges within mental health services at multiple levels 
across Wales, making a range of recommendations for action.  

The Welsh Government has accepted many of the recommendations of these inquiries, 
however, despite this, we know that a large number  are still awaiting implementation 
or, in some cases, are already significantly behind schedule according to the Welsh 
Government’s own timescales. For example, the publication of waiting time for access to 
psychological therapies or outlining a route-map and timescale for the delivery of 24/7 
crisis care services. These outstanding actions need to be urgently implemented in order 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-26-20 Papur 2 / Paper 2

Tudalen y pecyn 64



2 

 

to build resilience within mental health services in Wales, as we are concerned that the 
outbreak of Covid-19 risks exacerbating many of these challenges.  

Over the course of the past few months, there has been welcome collaboration across 
NHS Wales mental health services and across NHS Wales, Welsh Government and the 
third sector. This has enabled swifter exchange of information and intelligence as a basis 
for adapting services such as information and telephone support and hearing about the 
experiences of people with mental health problems during Covid 19.  

We are aware that there is a momentum behind some services changes including 
increasing the quantum and range of early support available to people in their 
communities We see potential for developing this coloration further over time, 
particularly with the NHS so that there is a more flexible approach to developing and 
making available the right kind of non-medical therapeutic, psycho educational and 
problem-solving support when we know that need is high and provision very limited. We 
would like to see the development of an open, collaborative and ambitious approach to 
how this innovation is accelerated and results in changes for people who need that. 

Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health in Wales 

Whilst it is too early to fully understand the impact of the Covid-19 outbreak and its 
subsequent management on mental health in the long-term, it is clearly  having a 
significant impact on the mental health of the nation. Whilst increased worry or anxiety 
during this period is a natural response, there are indications that some groups of 
people are experiencing significantly poorer mental health.  

To understand better how people were experiencing the pandemic we launched a 
survey across England and Wales asking a series of questions from general mood to 
access to support. In Wales almost 900 people responded with around two thirds of 
people saying their mental health had deteriorated since the outbreak of Covid-19 and 
the introduction of lockdown restrictions. The most common factors said to be 
contributing to poor mental health over the period were not being able to go outside, 
feeling bored/restless, anxiety about getting seriously ill from coronavirus and feeling 
lonely.  
 
Our survey highlighted that the impact has been more severe for those of us with 
mental health problems and has compounded existing health inequalities. People living 
in the most deprived areas of Wales are more likely to be self-isolating, feeling anxious, 
isolated and report greater worries about their mental health.1 This is also mirrored in 
BAME communities, with both these sections of society having historic challenges in 
accessing support and early intervention services. We have included a specific section 
later in our evidence that looks at the disproportionate impact we have seen in some of 
these groups. 
 
Despite assurances from Welsh Government and NHS Wales that services were in place, 
there has been clear evidence that many people have struggled to access services:  
 

 16% of respondents to our survey had tried to access mental health 
support in the past month.  

 Of these, one in five were unable to access support.  

                                                 
1 https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-

hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/  

Tudalen y pecyn 65

https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/


3 

 

 Almost one in ten told us that they did not know how to access support; 
this was higher than the equivalent figure in England, where just over 1 in 
20 did not know how to access support.  

 Of those who accessed support, 44% did so through the NHS, 24% 
through a private provider and 16% through a charity 

 Of those who accessed support, 37% spoke to a counsellor or therapist 
over the phone, while a further 34% spoke to their GP 

 
Whilst some have struggled to access support, a third of people told us that they did not 
seek support because they did not think that their issue was serious enough. This is 
concerning, not least because we know that when people do not get support early, they 
are more likely to reach crisis point and need emergency help. We know that many 
people felt unsure whether it was safe or responsible to attend a face-to-face 
appointments, for example to request a referral from a GP, whereas others told us they 
did not want to take resources away from people who may need it more. This is also 
reflected in emerging work undertaken by Time to Change Wales that indicates there 
has been a growth in self-stigma during this period, with people feeling they do not 
deserve help . 
 
Whilst all services, including those in the local Mind network, moved quickly to providing 
online and telephone support our survey showed that, over the past month, the most 
common difficulty in accessing mental health services was feeling unable or 
uncomfortable using video/phone technology, over a third of people told us this made 
accessing services difficult. 
 
Concerns relating to finance, benefits and future employment have been common 
themes raised by respondents to the survey: 
 

 Three quarters (74%) of those whose employment status has changed as 

a result of coronavirus say their mental health has got worse, in 

comparison to 59% of those who have seen no change to their 

employment status. Those who have seen their employment status 

change also have comparatively worse mental health (43% change vs 

32% no change.  

 Half (50%) of people whose employment status has changed said they 

have rarely or not felt useful at all in the past month, in comparison to 

39% of those whose employment status has not changed 

 People with changed employment status are twice as likely to not know 

how to access support (15% vs 7%), are more likely to think there issue 

is not serious enough to get help (38% vs 32%), less likely to say they 

don’t want or need support (26% vs 40%) and slightly less likely to have 

tried to access support (14% vs 16%) 

 Those whose employment status has changed are more likely to report 

that their mental health has been made worse by: 

o Concerns about financial situation (79% change vs 36% change - 

more than twice as likely to be affected by this)  

o Concerns about work (86% vs 46%) 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



4 

 

o Housing problems e.g. eviction (13% change vs 6% no change – 

more than twice as likely) 

o Feeling lonely (72% vs 58%) 

 
Overall there is compelling evidence, both from our survey and work undertaken by 
others in the mental health sector, that there will be a need at a minimum for increased 
early intervention support services but also the potential for some people to emerge 
from lockdown with more serious mental health problems. The caution being exhibited 
in approaching health services for non-COVID related health care has been well 
evidenced across health conditions and has the potential to result in significant support 
emerging as lockdown eases. 
 

Key Concerns 
 

Whilst initially there was hope that the restrictions in place may be short lived, it is now 
apparent that we will be living with the virus for some time and some restrictions will 
remain in place. This poses a challenge for support services and we have a number of key 
concerns based on an emerging increase in the need for support at all levels of service 
provision in the short, medium and long term: 
 

 As a direct result of the coronavirus pandemic, more people experience poor 
mental health – we are particularly concerned about the mental health of 
NHS staff themselves and other frontline staff, as well as those coping with 
bereavements caused by Covid-19 and those who may experience job 
losses and other financial stresses during and post-pandemic.  

 Similarly, we are concerned about the disproportionate impact Covid-19 is 
having across demographics, specifically, people living in poverty and 
people from BAME backgrounds2.   

 As demand for support increases, already overstretched and under-
resourced services cannot adequately support all those that need care and 
thresholds for access to support increase as a result, particularly within 
primary care settings 

 The lack of resources/reduced number of staff means that less people are 
able to get support they would otherwise have received.   

 Digital alternatives to face-to-face support will help many get support and 
should be considered in the delivery of future services, however some 
people will be unable to access support in this way and may face digital 
exclusion. There is a need to guard against a rush to providing more 
distanced support rather than basing decisions on patient choice and 
options available. 

 That commitments by the Welsh Government and delivery partners to 
much-needed improvements to mental health services are delayed and that 
mental health is de-prioritised.  
 

We firmly believe that there is a need for urgency in responding to these concerns, with 
investment and timely action taking place to learn from this first phase of the pandemic 
and deliver longer term improvements in how support is configured for people at all levels. 

                                                 
2 https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-

hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/  

Tudalen y pecyn 67

https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/


5 

 

 

As immediate actions, we recommend:  
 

 Health Boards set out clearly, and in an accessible way, what mental health 
services are available and how to access them. This should include support 
within primary care, LPMHSS and secondary/crisis services.  

 Health Boards and other partners set out what steps they are taking to 
ensure mental health services are accessible to all, including those who may 
struggle to access digital support.  

 That anyone wrongfully discharged from mental health services are re-
admitted to the service immediately and from the point at which they were 
discharged.  

 The Welsh Government set out what assessment they have made of the 
impact of Covid-19 on demand for mental health support in the medium 
and long-term and what steps they are taking to meet this demand.  

 The Welsh Government set out what assessment they have made of the 
disproportionate mental health impact of Covid-19, and its management, 
on different demographic groups and what steps they are taking to mitigate 
this impact.  

 That the Committee requests access to the Welsh Government’s Mental 
Health Monitoring Tool to inform this inquiry.  

 The Welsh Government recommence data publication in relation to the 
Mental Health Measure and publish retrospectively in order to inform our 
understanding of, and learning from, the impact of Covid-19, and its 
management.  

 Health Inspectorate Wales provide an update on the impact of Covid-19 
and its management on mental health inpatient services, including an 
update on any Covid-19 related deaths that have occurred within these 
settings and plans for inspections going-forward.  

 That a timetable for implementing previous Committee recommendations 
on mental health services is developed and taken forward at pace.  

 The Welsh Government assess and commit additional resources needed to 
meet potential demand and ensure services have the resilience to continue 
operating in the event of further peaks or the re-introduction of lockdown 
measures.  
 

In the rest of this response, we will look at some areas in details to provide some context 
and further analysis of the insight we have gathered. 
 

Access to mental health services 
 
The Welsh Government has issued clear guidelines and public statements that mental 
health services are essential during this period and that they expect Health Boards to 
maintain services, whilst recognising the way service delivery may need to be adapted. 
Despite this, we have consistently heard from people who have struggled to access 
support and have seen several media stories highlighting the challenges people have 
experienced3 4.  

                                                 
3 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52771502  
4 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52620321  

Tudalen y pecyn 68

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52771502
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52620321


6 

 

 
There needs to be significant improvement in how Welsh Government and NHS Wales are 
communicating what services are available, the format of these services and the message 
that if people are worried about their mental health, they can seek support and it will be 
there for them.  
 
Many services have moved swiftly to providing remote support and this is to be welcomed 
- and demonstrates significant innovation that can inform future practice – however, as 
has been highlighted in media reports5, greater effort is required to ensure support is 
available for more marginalised groups who may struggle to access support in this way.  

 
Information and Early Support Services 
 
As the pandemic started, there was a surge in people seeking online advice and guidance 
around their mental health and we have pulled together a hub on our website that 
provides bilingual advice and guidance on a range of issues. You can view the information 
here: 
 
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/coronavirus/ 
 
We have worked with Public Health Wales and the Mental Health Foundation to share this 
information to people in Wales alongside promoting it through our own networks and 
platforms. Being able to find reliable, relatable information and advice has been one of 
the central aspects of the initial period of the pandemic.  
 
We know that some people have struggled to access their support networks and this has 
had a negative impact on their mental health. In reviewing lockdown restrictions, the 
Welsh Government should give careful consideration to its impact on people with mental 
health problems, and in particular those who are living alone who may be unable to access 
existing support networks that are crucial to the management of their mental health.  
 
There is growing concern that primary care services will be central in meeting the initial 
emerging need following easing of lockdown measures, as people seek help and support 
from their GP. It is likely that, as demand for mental health support re-emerges, additional 
capacity within primary care services in particular will be required to support people with 
mild to moderate mental health problems. There needs to be investment into this tier of 
support, including services that sit alongside GP services, community based therapeutic 
and psycho educational support which is easily accessible and available. 
 
It has been welcome that Welsh Government and NHS Wales have already taken some 
steps in this direction. Mind Cymru has secured funding via WCVA to deliver a national 
Active Monitoring6 service on a self-referral basis. Additionally, with Welsh Government 
funding, Mind Cymru is currently running a social-prescribing pilot that has adopted a self-
referral model in response to Covid-19. The evaluation of the effectiveness of these 
services, and their adaption to self-referral processes, should be used to inform future 
service development, with a view to scaling-up support at pace.   

                                                 
5 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-52637962/coronavirus-remote-mental-health-support-very-very-

difficult  
6 https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/mind-cymru/active-monitoring/  

Tudalen y pecyn 69

https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/coronavirus/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-52637962/coronavirus-remote-mental-health-support-very-very-difficult
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-52637962/coronavirus-remote-mental-health-support-very-very-difficult
https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/mind-cymru/active-monitoring/


7 

 

 
On April 23, the Welsh Government published an information note on delivering the 
Mental Health Measure during the Covid-19 pandemic.7 The note confirmed the 
expectation that services under the Measure should continue to be delivered whilst 
recognising that some adjustments to service-delivery will inevitably need to be made.  
 
The information note states that “reconfiguration of who, how and where services are 
delivered may not necessarily align with what is currently stated in Local Health Board 
Part 1 Schemes.” The Mental Health Measure obliges local mental health partners jointly 
to take all reasonable steps to agree a Part 1 Scheme, which ‘identifies what treatment 
is to be made available in the area.’ However, in reviewing Part 1 Schemes Mind Cymru 
found that many Schemes are brief and vague and do not adequately identify available 
treatments; many have not been updated since their initial publication following the 
introduction of the Mental Health Measure. These Schemes should be providing a 
roadmap for services and for those seeking support highlighting what they should be 
able to access.  
 
Mind Cymru believes these Schemes should be reviewed to set out clearly, what services 
are available. Furthermore, as an immediate action, local mental health partnerships 
should set out, clearly and in an accessible way, what services are available and how 
they can be accessed during the current crisis.  

 
We know that some people have struggled to access support from Local Primary Mental 
Health Support Services (LPMHSS) as result of Covid-19. Similarly, we know that some 
people have been reluctant or have experienced difficulty accessing their GP and, given 
GPs role in signposting, that this is likely to have had a significant impact on referrals to 
LPMHSS services. We know that in Betsi Cadwaladr, contrary to Welsh Government 
guidance, patients were discharged from LPMHSS and advised to seek re-referral when 
lockdown restrictions were lifted.8 On May 21, Simon Dean, interim Chief Executive Officer 
of Betsi Cadwaladr, apologised for the error whilst giving evidence to the Committee. It 
was later revealed that the error had affected far more people than had been previously 
been reported by the Health Board; in total, 1694 patients were discharged in error.9  
 

This situation has been deeply concerning and we believe is contrary to the duties under 
the Mental Health Measure and whilst steps have been taken to rectify the error, with a 
commitment to contacting all those affected, we must not underestimate the impact that 
this decision may have had on people seeking support. We know that asking for support 
for your mental health can feel difficult for many people and negative experiences in doing 
so can entrench those feelings and prevent help-seeking behaviour in the future. Whilst 
we welcome the steps the Health Board is taking to address the situation, it is concerning 
that any Health Board should have taken this decision and raises questions about the way 
in which primary mental health legislation in Wales is viewed by public bodies. Moreover, 
we would seek assurances that those affected will be readmitted to the service pathway 
at the point they were discharged, and will not have to repeat referral processes as a 
result of this error.  

 

                                                 
7 https://gov.wales/mental-health-guidance-covid-19-html 
8 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52729237  
9 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52827479  

Tudalen y pecyn 70

https://gov.wales/mental-health-guidance-covid-19-html
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52729237
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52827479


8 

 

Community Mental Health Services (CMHTs) 

As with other mental health services, we know that CMHTs faced a range of challenges in 
providing effective support prior to the outbreak of Covid-19. These challenges are 
outlined clearly in a joint thematic review of CMHTs published in February 2019 by Health 
Inspectorate Wales & Care Inspectorate Wales. The report makes 23 recommendations 
for improvements and highlights significant challenges in access to services, care 
planning, delivery and governance.10 It is unclear how many of the report’s 
recommendations have been taken forward to date and we know that the outbreak of 
Covid-19 has exacerbated some of the challenges. Of those respondents to our survey 
who had tried to access support for their mental health in the past month, over a third 
told us that difficulty contacting their CMHT or GP had made accessing services difficult.  

 
As secondary mental health services, anyone receiving support from a CMHT is entitled 
to a holistic Care and Treatment Plan (CTP) under the Mental Health Measure. In addition 
to setting out how, when and by whom care and treatment should be delivered, CTPs 
have a dedicated section on crisis planning designed to support people using services to 
recognise when their mental health is deteriorating and seek support. The Welsh 
Government information note, published April 23, states that CTPS are ‘a vital tool to 
communicate and safeguard continuity of care and treatment” and that “individual crisis 
support plans can be reviewed and adjusted in light of public health advice to ensure that 
they can still deliver the same support at the right time if needed.” However, there is clear 
evidence from before the outbreak of Covid-19 that the quality of care and treatment 
plans ‘is generally poor’. This was the key finding of the NHS Delivery Unit’s National Audit 
of the Quality of Care and Treatment Plans, published July 2018.11 Moreover, the report 
further stated:  

 

“The quality of crisis planning within CTPs was poor and did not routinely 
flow from the assessment of risk and the relapse signature. Where crisis 
plans were produced, in the vast majority of cases they contained no 
contingency planning or any clarification of the response the Service User 
or their family might expect in a crisis.” 

- NHS Wales Delivery Unit, 2018 
 
This further underlines the importance of the Welsh Government, NHS Wales and Health 
Boards providing reassurance and clear public health messages on what services are 
available locally and nationally to support people who are, or are at risk of, experiencing 
a mental health crisis and how they can access this support. The Committee may wish to 
look in more detail at how Care and Treatment Plans have been adapted in response to 
Covid-19 and any learning this offers going-forward.    

 
We know that access to psychological therapies in Wales is limited and that some people 
can find themselves waiting years to access this specialist support.12 A report form one 
Health Board in January 2020 found ‘unacceptably long waits’ and described these 

                                                 
10 https://hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/190207joint-thematic-review-community-mental-health-en.pdf  
11http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/863/5d.%2020180720%20National%20Assurance%20review%

20of%20CTP%20Final%20Report.pdf  
12 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-36038905  

Tudalen y pecyn 71

https://hiw.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/190207joint-thematic-review-community-mental-health-en.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/863/5d.%2020180720%20National%20Assurance%20review%20of%20CTP%20Final%20Report.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/863/5d.%2020180720%20National%20Assurance%20review%20of%20CTP%20Final%20Report.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-36038905


9 

 

services as ‘under-resourced and ‘not fit for purpose’.13 We are concerned that the 
outbreak of Covid-19, particularly as services reconfigure to more digital means of access, 
will act as a further barrier to people accessing this support.  

 
Moreover, in December 2018, the Welsh Government in response to the Committee’s 
report on suicide prevention, committed to publishing waiting times targets for access to 
specialist psychological therapies beginning April 2019. We welcomed this commitment as 
a positive step forward in ensuring people are able to access a range of support depending 
on their needs (though our view remains that the 26-week target is too long to wait for 
such support). However, despite this commitment, to date, the Welsh Government has 
not published any figures on waiting times for access to psychological therapies. As 
lockdown restrictions are lifted it is likely that demand for this support will re-emerge or 
increase and so it is vital that action is taken now to reduce waiting times, and ensure an 
effective service, including the publication of this data to provide assurances. This data 
should be published retrospectively where possible, in order to inform our understanding 
of, and learning from, the impact of Covid-19, and its management, on access to this 
support over the period.  

   

Inpatient settings  

The Committee has previously raised concerns with regard to follow-up support for people 
discharged from inpatient mental health settings. Recommendations 9,10 & 11 of 
‘Everybody’s Business – a report on suicide prevention’ called on Welsh Government to 
improve follow-up support, to ensure data in relation to follow-up support was recorded 
by all Local Health Boards and that Welsh Government publishes this data on six-monthly 
basis to improve transparency and accountability. We welcomed the Welsh Government’s 
acceptance in full or in principle of the above recommendations. However, we note that, 
due to delays in delivering a Mental Health Core Dataset, these recommendations are yet 
to be implemented. At a point when support services have changed their delivery models 
and inpatients are being discharged into the community it is vital that there is a clear 
understanding of how people have experienced discharge and the support made available 
for them. In light of this, the Committee may wish to assess what measures are being 
taken by the Welsh Government and NHS Wales to ensure people discharged from 
inpatient units as a response to Covid-19 have and continue to receive follow-up support.  

 
We are aware of changes in inspection and mental health review services provided by 
Healthcare Inspectorate Wales due to the pandemic, namely a cessation of physical 
inspections. We understand there has been continued contact between HIW and 
inpatient units during this period. Whilst there has been nothing to suggest a reduction 
in service quality, it would be welcome to have an update from Healthcare Inspectorate 
Wales on how inpatient mental health services have coped during the pandemic. 
Including what steps they are taking to undertake their inspectorate role in relation to 
both NHS Wales and independent/private-sector providers going forward, including in 
the event of additional peaks or the reintroduction of lockdown restrictions.  

 

We have raised with Welsh Government the issue of Covid-19 related deaths of 
inpatients, following reports in England that showed a high number of deaths of patients 

                                                 
13 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-51285851  

Tudalen y pecyn 72

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-51285851


10 

 

detained under the Mental Health Act. The Welsh Government has provided assurance 
that this is not the case in Wales. We would welcome an update on this issue from 
Health Inspectorate Wales and recommend that deaths of patients receiving support 
within, or recently transferred/discharged from, inpatient units are recorded and 
reported in an anonymised way as happens elsewhere in the UK.  

 
In response to Covid-19, the Mental Health Review Tribunal Wales understandably 
ceased holding panels face-to-face and moved to telephone panels. We are concerned 
about the impact this is having on patients detained under the Mental Health Act. 
Specifically, we are aware of a number of detained patients experiencing difficulties 
communicating with their lawyers in remote hearings. As a result, we have called on 
hospitals, the tribunal and lawyers to work together to ensure that patients have the 
proper access to the courts and a fair hearing that they are legally required to have.14 
 

Transparency and accountability  

Understanding what is happening in relation to mental health services has long been a 
significant challenge due to limited access to and availability of services-data, these issues 
have been raised in a number of inquiries by the Committee in recent years. The Welsh 
Government is committed to developing a Mental Health Core Dataset (MHCDS) for Wales 
for implementation in 2022. However, whilst Mind Cymru has supported Government in 
developing the MHCDS we remain significantly concerned at the ongoing delays in its 
delivery. The original Together for Mental Health Delivery Plan (2012-16) committed to 
ensuring the MHCDS was operational by 2015. The lack of urgency in taking forward these 
improvements means that we are now unable to fully understand and learn from how 
services are being impacted by and are adapting to Covid-19, or indeed the impact this is 
having on people’s experiences and outcomes of accessing support.  
 
On March 23rd, the Chief Statistician announced the suspension of some data and 
statistical publications based on ‘prioritising what is relevant to the current situation’. This 
decision included data collected under the Mental Health Measure. As a result, there is 
currently no public information on referrals to or waiting times within LPMHSS, or indeed 
any other information published under the Measure. Despite this, we are led to believe by 
NHS Wales that the number of referrals to mental health services have fallen during the 
initial period of the pandemic, but have started to climb again. However, we have not 
seen the data that is supporting this statement.  
 
Whilst we recognised and understood the rationale for initially discontinuing some data 
collection in order to meet the immediate challenges caused by Covid-19. We believe that, 
given mental health services are deemed essential and that many of the initial challenges 
have been overcome, that data collection and publication in relation to the Measure should 
be recommenced in order to provide assurances that people are able to access these 
services and allay the concerns outlined above.  
 
Moreover, the advice issued by Welsh Government stated that data collection in relation 
to the Measure should continue locally, with only national reporting discontinued in order 

                                                 
14 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-

52838807?intlink_from_url=https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/wales/south_east_wales&link_location=live-

reporting-story  

Tudalen y pecyn 73

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52838807?intlink_from_url=https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/wales/south_east_wales&link_location=live-reporting-story
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52838807?intlink_from_url=https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/wales/south_east_wales&link_location=live-reporting-story
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-52838807?intlink_from_url=https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/wales/south_east_wales&link_location=live-reporting-story


11 

 

to reduce administrative burden. Therefore, it will be possible for Welsh Government to 
publish this data retrospectively in order to inform our understanding of, and learning 
from, the impact of Covid-19, and its management, on mental health services. We believe 
this should be taken forward at the earliest opportunity.  

 
In response to the outbreak of Covid-19, the Welsh Government established a Mental 

Health Incident Group (MHIG) to support Health boards to continue providing mental 

health services and supporting staff wellbeing. This included the creation of a Mental 

Health Monitoring tool for Health Boards and partners to provide assurance of capacity 

and capability within mental health services. As an immediate action, we recommend 

the Committee requests access to this tool in order to inform this inquiry.   

 

It is likely that we will be living with Covid-19 for a long time to come. Indeed, the Chief 

Medical Officer has recently warned of the prospect of a return to lockdown in autumn 

and winter and additional peaks in the months and years ahead.15 If this is the case, it is 

therefore vital that steps are taken now to ensure that information in relation to mental 

health services can be reported going-forward and is not re-suspended in response 

additional peaks or ongoing challenges in relation to Covid-19.   

 

Disproportionate impacts 

Clear evidence is emerging of the disproportionate impact of Covid-19 across 

demographics. For example, Public Health Wales reports that ‘people living in the most 

deprived areas of Wales are more likely to be self-isolating, be feeling anxious and 

isolated during coronavirus restrictions, and report greater worries about their mental 

health’.16 Public Health Wales have also found that younger adults are more worried 

about their mental health and that lockdown restrictions are having a greater impact on 

the mental health and wellbeing of Black, Asian and minority ethnic people.17 

 

This disproportionate impact is also clear within our survey of people’s experiences 

between April and May. For example, when analysing the survey by different 

demographics we found that:  

 

 Women are more likely than men to feel that their issue is not serious 
enough to warrant support – 35% of women said this vs 27% of men 

 The most common difficulty for parents with children under 18 is 
balancing accessing support with additional responsibilities (30%) – 
parents are 3 times as likely to face this difficulty in comparison to 
those without children under 18 (10%) 

 Younger people are even more likely to experience difficulty accessing 
services due to feeling uncomfortable or unable to speak over the 
phone or on video call – nearly half (45%) of 18-24 year old 
respondents said this had made accessing help difficult 

                                                 
15 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-52890762  
16 https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-

hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/  
17 https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-

hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/  

Tudalen y pecyn 74

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-52890762
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-by-demographics-report/
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/
https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/latest-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/weekly-hayd-reports/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-a-focus-on-ethnicity/


12 

 

 

Additionally, our survey highlights the disproportionate impact that the outbreak of 

Covid-19 and its management is having on people with a variety of diagnosis and in 

particular people experiencing eating disorders, PTSD or personality disorders, 

particularly those who may be living alone:  

 

 People with experience of an eating disorder have been disproportionately 
impacted. Their mental health has become worse than other diagnoses, 
and they are more likely to use negative coping strategies and their 
mental health is disproportionately affected by coronavirus restrictions 

 While two thirds (65%) in Wales say their mental health has got worse, 
this rises to three quarters (76%) of people with an eating disorder and 
84% of people with a personality disorder.  

 While just over a third (35%) say their mental health is currently poor or 
very poor, this rises to 60% of people with an eating disorder and two 
thirds (66%) of people with a personality disorder 

 People with an eating disorder are nearly twice as likely to be negatively 
affected by not getting on with people they live with (40% ED vs 23% 
overall) 

 People with an eating disorder, PTSD or a personality disorder are nearly 
twice as likely to have said their mental health has got worse due to 
difficulties accessing mental health support (63% ED, 61% PTSD, 74% PD 
vs 33% of people overall) 

 

We have already provided evidence to the Children, Young People and Education 

Committee on the impact of the pandemic on the mental health of children and young 

people and we have attached our evidence as an appendix for information. 

 

In light of this evidence we would ask that when reviewing lockdown restrictions, the 

Welsh Government should give careful consideration to its impact on people with mental 

health problems, and in particular those who are living alone who may be unable to 

access existing support networks that are crucial to the management of their mental 

health.  

 

The impact of the pandemic on frontline staff has been at the forefront of our thinking 

throughout the pandemic. As a result of this we formed an alliance with a number of 

other organisations to develop the Our Frontline offer to all frontline staff. It provides 

web based advice and support as well as direct access to counselling if this is needed. It 

builds on the work we have undertaken through our Blue Light programme, which 

supported emergency service personnel with their mental health. Further information 

can be viewed via: 

 

https://www.mentalhealthatwork.org.uk/ourfrontline/ 

 

There will be a need to ensure that frontline workers are given the opportunity to step 

away from the challenging situations they have experienced, both in work but also as 

parents and family members, in order to reflect on their experiences and replenish their 

own resilience.  

Tudalen y pecyn 75

https://www.mentalhealthatwork.org.uk/ourfrontline/


13 

 

 

Given the emerging evidence around the disproportionate impact of Covid-19 across 

demographics and diagnoses, we believe that Welsh Government and NHS Wales should 

be seeking to urgently understand these impacts, plan for enhanced support services 

and mitigate some of the impacts of the pandemic on the mental health of these 

communities. 

 

Employment & economic impact 

We know that Covid-19 and its management has and will continue to have a significant 

economic impact, and that impact is likely to be most severe in areas that already 

experience high-levels of deprivation. Moreover, as noted above, the link between 

deprivation and mental health problems is well evidenced.  

 

Given the evidence around the economic impact of Covid-19 and its disproportionate 

impact on those living in the most deprived communities, it will be important that we 

collectively continue to tackle mental health stigma through Time to Change Wales and 

that employers are supported to proactively take a positive approach to mental health in 

the workplace, adopting the framework outlined in the Thriving at Work report  

 

Conclusion 
 

The outbreak of Covid-19 has seen a significant proportion of the Welsh population face 

challenges with their mental health. For some this will be their first experience, they 

may recover quickly with minimal support, for others it will take longer to move beyond 

the experiences of the last few months, and finally there will be a group whose mental 

ill health will have deteriorated further during the pandemic. What is needed now from 

Welsh Government and NHS Wales is an urgency in responding to the emerging 

challenges and investment to ensure support is there when people need it.  

 

The current easing of lockdown provides an opportunity to learn from the first stage of 

this pandemic and put in place a resilient support structure that can deliver for people in 

any future lockdown. Whilst initial measures were put in place as short-term emergency 

fixes, it is now clear that some measures, like social distancing, will be required over a 

much longer period. We now have an opportunity to develop and deliver a clear vision 

for how services will deliver within current restrictions, alongside plans to ensure mental 

health services can continue to operate seamlessly, without a reduction in support, in 

the event of additional peaks or the reintroduction of lockdown measures. This will 

ensure that those of us with mental health problems are able to access support going 

forward and ensure the issues around access and quality of service outlined above are 

not repeated.   

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 76



Response to Health, Social Care and Sport Committee: Inquiry into the 

impact of the Covid-19 outbreak, and its management, on health and 

social care in Wales 

Written Evidence from the Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales 

For further information, please contact: 

The Royal College of Psychiatrists in Wales (The College) is the professional 

medical body responsible for developing and supporting psychiatrists 

throughout their careers, and in setting and raising standards of psychiatry 

throughout Wales. 

The College aims to improve outcomes for people with mental disorders 

and the mental health of individuals, their families and communities. In 

order to achieve this, the College sets standards and promotes excellence 

in psychiatry; leads, represents and supports psychiatrists; improves the 

scientific understanding of mental illness; works with and advocates for 

patients, carers and their organisations. 

The Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales is pleased to respond to this 

inquiry. In determining a response, we have highlighted 2 initial areas, 

alongside a comment on recovery planning. The College would be very 

happy to provide any further evidence to the committee, in writing or 

virtually. Our areas: 

• Delivering core NHS and care services during the pandemic and

beyond,

• Coronavirus and the impact on people with protected

characteristics.

Delivering core NHS and care services during the pandemic and beyond 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-26-20 Papur 3 / Paper 3

Tudalen y pecyn 77

Eitem 3



While COVID-19 is a virus, it is having a profound impact on the nation's 

mental health. If there is a post Covid-19 recession, the economic downturn 

will have significant implications for the nation's mental health and 

suicide rates. 

The virus is also affecting the mental health and well-being of NHS and 

social care staff. The ONS has reported a sharp rise in the number of people 

reporting high levels of anxiety and our survey of psychiatrists has found 

that there has been an increase in the number of urgent and emergency 

cases seen by psychiatrists. 

Our recent surveys of psychiatrists (15th-17th April and ist-6th May) have also

highlighted significant concerns that psychiatrists are being forced to put 

themselves and their patients at risk, delivering care without adequate PPE 

or access to tests for themselves, their families or their patients. 

Our recommendations for delivering core services 

• Consistent message sent to the public that if you have a mental

health need you should still seek help.
• Mental health services must be adequately supported to deal with

the increase in urgent and emergency demands
• Expand and monitor efforts to ensure all staff working in mental

health care get access to the PPE and COVID-19 tests they need.
• NHS Wales should closely monitor the implementation of the

guidance on infection control and offer additional support to

those areas that are struggling to follow them.
• Provide ongoing support to healthcare staff after the initial peak

and give them support to recover before any potential second

wave.
• Invest in expanded mental health services to cope with the likely

rise in demand for services following the initial COVID-19 peak.

• Invest in support for the general population in the event of an

economic downturn.

How has demand for mental health services been affected by the 

pandemic? 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



Our survey of psychiatrists working in the NHS has found that the COVID-
19 pandemic has led to an overall increase in emergency and urgent 
appointments and an overall decrease in the number of patients they have 
seen for more routine support: 

• Emergency interventions/appointments -13% have seen workload
increase, 30% have seen a decrease

• Urgent interventions/appointments - 36% have seen workload
increase, 32% decrease

• Appointments/interventions normally conducted within four weeks
- 11% have seen an increase, 54% a decrease

• Appointments/interventions normally within three months - only
14% have seen an increase, compared to 39% seeing a decrease

• Appointments/interventions normally after three months - just 5.5%
have seen this area of workload increase, compared to 51% who
have seen these caseloads decline.

The decrease in non-urgent cases is as concerning as the rise in urgent and 
emergency cases expressed by some of our psychiatrists. It is much harder 
for mental health teams to deliver routine services while managing social 
distancing, dealing with an increase in urgent and emergency cases and 
supporting patients who may have COVID-19. 

Psychiatrists report to us their concern that temporary drop offs in some 
activity represents a calm before the storm, due to some services being 
delayed and some patients avoiding contact due to fear of infection or 
concern that they are being a burden on the NHS. It is critical that people 
are aware that NHS mental health services are still open. Those who fail to 
get the help they need now, may become more seriously ill further down 
the line. 

According to our survey, psychiatrists working with older adults have seen 
the biggest decrease in regular appointments. Over half of respondents 
stated that long term appointments have either decreased or significantly 
decreased since the crisis started. Unfortunately, this is not surprising 
considering they are the group most at risk from infection and have been 
advised to take extra precautions around isolating. It may also be that they 
are the group less able to engage with their mental health team via 
increasingly adopted methods of remote working such as online video 
calls. Although it is important not to generalise and assume all older 
people will be uncomfortable talking to a psychiatrist over the internet. 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



Our faculty of older adult psychiatry had reported restrictions on care 
home admissions. Although, this is for the safety of existing residents our 
psychiatrists are concerned for their patients with advanced dementia 
who need constant support and care but cannot be admitted to a 
specialist facility. Guidance on hospital discharge issued from Welsh 
Government has looked to address this challenge. 

Our survey found that psychiatrists working in Liaison mental health, and 
General adult services have had the biggest increase in emergency 
a ppoi ntments/i nterventions. 

Psychiatrists are also reporting a significant drop off rate in regular referrals 
to child and adolescent mental health services. Far fewer children are 
being referred from primary care to mental health services. This is 
particularly concerning for patients with mental health conditions which 
have an increased mortality rate such as eating disorders, bipolar disorder 
and schizophrenia. 

Some of our Forensic Faculty of psychiatrists working in secure NHS 
facilities and prisons have also expressed significant concerns about their 
ability to care for patients. They have faced a reduction in referrals and a 
reduction in the number of hospital patients they've been able to transfer 
to community services. It is particularly difficult to deliver services in 
prisons as many of our psychiatrists have struggled to access patients 
although we have had reports that this is improving. 

Another area where our psychiatrists have expressed significant concerns 

is within addiction services. Our Addictions Faculty members have told us 

that some people with alcohol addictions problem are drinking much 

more and becoming even more chaotic in their lifestyles as a result of the 

pandemic. We have had reports of a significant number of people 

relapsing because of the strains of lock down and being cut off from their 

friends and families. 

How mental health services have adapted to deal with the crisis 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



Many providers of mental health services reacted quickly to change the 

way services act in response for the crisis. Many psychiatrists are currently 
working an 'altered timetable' due to reconfiguration of services. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, it is essential that those who use mental 

health services continue to get the care they need. Remote consultations, 

using telephone calls, audio and video to provide care for patients has 
already become a fundamental part of the way mental health services 
provide care. As we move beyond the peak of the crisis, this is likely to 

become more standard practice and there are concerted efforts to 

continue to increase capacity. 

Many psychiatrists are currently working remotely, showing that services 

are able to provide flexibility for staff as well as patients. 

Those with a lack of digital literacy, lacking in confidence using technology 

or with little or no access to digital platforms must not be disadvantaged. 

Use of telephone consultations, rather than more complex video platforms 

may be sufficient for lower risk conversations or to ensure engagement 

with those who lack digital technology or skills. 

The College has published on Ii ne resources for people with a men ta I i 11 ness 

and their carers on issues such as medication and how to manage their 

conditions during the crisis. 

Access to PPE 

A pair of college surveys found that psychiatrists are being forced to put 

themselves and their patients at risk, delivering care without adequate PPE 

or access to tests for themselves, their families or their patients 1. 

One psychiatrist surveyed said "There are extreme shortages of PPE and 

most of us are at risk. Only very limited supply is obtained and most of the 

time frontline staff are refused risking their lives. Staff are terrified and 

afraid." 

Our latest survey (in the field from 1-6 May) has shown that a significant 

proportion of psychiatrists are concerned that they are not able to access 
the level of PPE set out in the guidance. 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



• Around 16% of psychiatrists in the UK don't have access to correct

PPE.

• In Scotland this was 8%, Wales 13%, Northern Ireland 9% and 18% in

England.

The national and regional breakdowns are as follows 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



Chart l - Are you able to access the following PPE kit when you need it (in 

line with the latest guidance from your organisation)? (NB - don't know 

responses were excluded) 

Can you currently access the correct level of PPE that you 
need? 

UK (n=l,178) 

E ngland (n = 946) 

Northern Ireland (n = 32) 

Scotland ( n= 137) 

Wales (n= 63) 

Eastern (n =89) 

London (n= 219) 

North West (n = lll) 

Northern & Yorks (n = 161) 

South Eastern (n =128) 

South West (n = 112) 

Trent (n= 44) 

West. MicDands (n= B2) 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

■Yes ■No 

Some of our psychiatrists have previously expressed concerns about the 

potential impact the lack of adequate PPE is likely to have. Some of the 

most concerning responses to our first member survey (in the field from 

15-17 April) included psychiatrists saying that:

• "Last week we did CPR on a patient who had hung
themselves with no fit tested PPE."

• "There are extreme shortages of PPE and most of us are at
risk. Only very limited supply is obtained and most of the
time frontline staff are refused risking their lives. Staff are
terrified and afraid."

• "Spitting in Covid positive patients is a real issue and not
able to get the appropriate PPE, social distancing
impossible in inpatient settings."

Tudalen y pecyn 83



Access to testing 

The other major concern raised by our psychiatrists is that a significant 

proportion are unable to access tests for themselves, their families or their 

patients if they have concerns if they have COVID-19. The current 

Government guidance states that any NHS worker or their family member 

with suspected COVID-19 should be able to access testing and that tests 

should be given to any new patient entering an inpatient setting. 

When our psychiatrists across the UK were surveyed (1-6 May) we found 

that, In Wales: 

• Around one in ten psychiatrists working in the NHS said they were

not able to access a test for COVID-19 for themselves if they had

symptoms, if you include those who did not know if they could

access a test it was up to almost a quarter.
• One in four either could not or did not know if they could access a

test for their patients
• Almost a half (45%) could not or did not know if they could access a

test for members of their household

Whilst these findings have improved since our first survey (15-17 April), there 

are still areas for improvement. 

Infection control and prevention 

The majority of mental health units in the UK were never designed to 

contain a highly contagious illness. Potential environmental risks include 

aged estates with a significant proportion of dormitory style 

accommodation, small shared offices, shared computers, shared patient 
facilities, sitting or dining rooms, shared toilets, poor ventilation and air­

conditioning. Particularly worryingly last year there were 1,176 patients (UK­

wide) having to share mixed dormitories2
• 

In addition, it is often the case that some patients may be unable to follow 

advice on containment, isolation and testing, which presents a further 
clear infection risk to be considered and managed. 

We are concerned that some NHS mental health estates are unsuitable, 

making it very hard to follow guidance. The guidance includes 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



recommendations that all new patients coming into a mental health, 
learning disability, autism, dementia or specialist inpatient facility are 
tested for COVID-19, including asymptomatic patients, and kept separate 
from other patients until they get their results back. 

As shown above many of our psychiatrists have expressed significant 
concerns that they are currently unable to access testing for their patients. 
To date it has been very difficult to effectively cohort due to lack of 
adequate access to testing, therefore it is important that effective delivery 
of this change in testing policy in mental health settings is monitored and 
not overlooked. 

Many sites also lack the space to keep patients separate especially those 
with mixed dormitories. Consideration is needed on how Health Boards 
can be supported to undertake the complex task of cohorting effectively 
within their estates, both in the immediate term and looking to the 
medium and longer term. 

On admission, space is needed for confirmed COVID cases, a second space 

for patients confirmed via testing to be COVID negative and a third space 

patients whose COVID status is unconfirmed while test results awaited. In 

addition, patients who need shielding should be kept away from those 

with confirmed COVID. 

It is important to understand the extent to which local areas are able to 
follow this guidance, and this is monitored, and additional support is 
offered to those areas that are struggling to follow them. 

How we can we support the mental health of NHS staff? 

At this time, NHS staff may feel stressed for many reasons such as having 
to make difficult decisions about patients' care, the amount of work, being 
uncertain about the future, worrying about taking the virus home with 
them and infecting others, and/or less contact with family and friends. 

The role of NHS team leaders, managers and supervisors is crucial to ensure 
NHS staff have the mental health support they need. NHS leaders need to 
have frank discussions with staff about the challenges that lie ahead, not 
to sugar coat them but also not to overstate the trauma they are likely to 
face. These discussions should address the difficult decisions that staff may 
have to make. 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



We also recommend supervisors speak with their teams using structured 

forums similar to the ones provided by Schwartz Rounds. Such forums 
enable staff to come together with their leader after their shift and talk 

honestly about what did and didn't go right, the difficulties they faced and 

the associated emotional reactions. While staff will have limited time to be 
involved in such discussions, this approach is likely to reduce the 
potentially damaging mental health impacts of working on a stressful 
hospital ward. This should be done during staffs normal working hours. 

For further information, we have published a range of resources for team 

leaders and supervisors as part of our COVID-19 guidance. We have also 

developed specific resources for psychiatrists on taking care of themselves 
as well as helping other healthcare professionals. 

Despite the challenges they face during the pandemic, most NHS workers 
will not suffer from a mental illness. With good leadership, as well as 

properly preparing and supporting NHS staff, most will avoid developing 
longer-term difficulties. 

For those who do need help, we should provide evidence-based care both 
in the short term to help NHS staff get back to work and in the long term. 

The available evidence strongly suggests that the support given to NHS 
staff members as the crisis begins to recede is of critical importance in 
determining whether they will experience psychological growth, develop 
a mental health disorder or neither. 

Supporting the health and wellbeing of NHS workers following the first 

COVID-19 outbreak is likely to be even more critical. To this end, the NHS 
must give its staff members - who have been working intensively in 
arduous circumstances - sufficient time to 'reset' before they embark on 

their usual work. 

This time will be crucial for them to access the social support they need, 

and to readjust to the 'new normal' without being under too much 
pressure while trying to recover. Should there be second wave of 

coronavirus this rest period will be even more crucial 

We have developed some concrete elements that we believe should be 
put in place for staff in every NHS Health Board, including: 

• Any staff member who unexpectedly does not turn up for a shift
should be proactively contacted.

• Once someone completes their COVID-19 work they should be
thanked, be provided with opportunities to informally mix with

Tudalen y pecyn 86



their colleagues and given relevant mental health and welfare 

information. 
• Workplace supervisors should carry out a structured return to post­

COVID-19 work interview.
• Staff should be written to again three and 12 months [and possibly

later] post completing their COVID-19 work and be given

information about how they can check their own mental health.

How we can we support people's mental health after the initial peak? 

It seems inevitable that once the pandemic is past its peak, there will be 

an increase in demand for mental health services and for support for the 

general population. That need will increase more if there is an economic 
downturn. This may be because of pent up demand caused by the current 

fall in referrals, the consequences of lockdown, economic uncertainty and 

the trauma of contracting or losing loved ones to COVID-19. 

The recent ONS wellbeing survey found that between 20 March and 30 

March 2020 almost half of the population of Great Britain (49.6%) reported 
high levels of anxiety. This compares to 21% of people who said the same 

last year3
• 

A significant economic downturn following the crisis is widely predicted 

and there is strong evidence of a link between economic difficulties and 
higher rates of mental health problems and suicide4

• We have already seen 
from the recent ONS survey that people who had experienced a reduction 

in household finances because of COVID-19 reported 16% higher anxiety 

on average5
• 

Mental health services, which are overstretched at the best of times, will 

come under even more pressure. One of the biggest causes of this is a lack 

of trained staff. 

In March, we released our manifesto for the 2021 Senedd Cymru elections. 
We highlighted particular areas of focus for developing the workforce in 

Wales that will support ambition, and it's essential that this is confirmed 

and commitments are made within the mental health workforce 
strategies that have been outlined within Welsh Government's Together 

for Mental Health Strategy'. 

Tudalen y pecyn 87



It is important that these commitments are not forgotten, and that 
recommendations from our manifesto are brought forward in working 
towards achieving parity between services; and respective of parity in 

developing parity for a mental health workforce. 

Coronavirus and the impact on people with protected characteristics 

Over a third of people with a severe mental health illness (37.6%) also have 

a long-term physical condition6 meaning that they are disproportionately 

at risk of being affected by COVID-19. 

In the UK, people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds 

(BAME), face persistent and wide-ranging inequalities. An individual from 

a Black, Asian or minority ethnic background is more likely to experience 

poverty, to have poorer educational outcomes, to be unemployed, and to 

come in contact with the criminal justice system7
• These, in turn, are risk 

factors for developing a mental illness. 

Emerging data from the COVID-19 pandemic clearly shows that BAME 

groups are significantly more likely to die from COVID-198
, the reasons for 

this are currently not well established, though societal inequalities are 

likely to play a role. 

This submission focuses on what impact the crisis is having on mental 

health services and those services that are delivered to people with 

protected characteristics. 

We have also looked to address the Coronavirus Act 2020 and the impact 

that will have on those with protected characteristics. 

Recommendations to support people with protected characteristics 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



• The emergency changes to the Mental Health Act should only be

used where patients would otherwise be put at risk and their use

should be closely monitored.

• The need for the enactment and prospective enforcement of the

M HA emergency changes, should be closely monitored and

justified -At present, we do not support a case for enactment and

enforcement

• Health Boards should adopt the College guidance and work with

individual staff to develop appropriate and robust risk mitigation

for BAME mental health staff, and access to support should be

readily made available and accessible.

• When the peak of the crisis is over mental health services should

not go back to normal instead commissioners should learn from

the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health Advancing

Mental Health Equality (AMHEJ guidance when redesigning

services

• When supporting patients during the COVID-79 crisis staff should

use the least restrictive option that is possible

The emergency coronavirus legislation and mental health 

Schedule 8 of the Coronavirus Act creates the ability for changes to be 

made to mental health legislation across the UK. These changes have so 

far not been enacted apart from those related to the Mental Health 

(Northern Ireland) Order 1986 - in Northern Ireland. 

The changes to the Mental Health Act 1983 (England and Wales) (MHA) 

would allow certain functions relating to the detention and treatment of 

patients to be carried out with fewer doctors' opinions or certifications. It 

also temporarily allows for the extension or removal of certain time limits 

relating to the detention and transfer of patients. Full details of what this 

would entail can be found on our website9 

Although Black British adults had the highest mean score for severity of 

mental health symptoms, they were the least likely to receive treatment 

for mental illness. Where they do come into contact with services, it is 

disproportionately based on a detention order requiring them to stay in 

hospital1°. 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



If this legislation is enacted, it would disproportionately impact these 

groups. We are extremely conscious that enacting MHA emergency 
powers would weaken patient safeguards, so it is essential that their use 

must always be justified. People shouldn't be denied access to the care 
they need, and potentially left in a situation where their own life is at risk 
due to a lack of staff. If those needing care don't get it because of a 

depleted workforce it will further affect an already disadvantaged group 
and so on balance. 

We have monitored the views of psychiatrists closely in relation to delays 

that may have been experienced in using the MHA in the last few weeks. 

75% of psychiatrists had not reported trouble convening a MHA 
assessment in Wales, only 7% had (the remaining responders are not 
convening community MHA assessments during their work) 

Presently we do not believe there is an evidence base to justify 
enforcement of the MHA amendments in Wales, should they be enacted 
by the UK Government. 

Enacting the MHA emergency powers would weaken of patient 

safeguards. Therefore, their use would need to be justified every single time 

they are used. 

If emergency powers are enacted, they should only be used where 
necessary and justifiable. It is essential that it is clearly communicated that 
the powers, if enacted they should not be used nationally, only where the 
lack of staff caused by the COVID-19 crisis means a patient's safety is being 

put at risk and where there is no alternative. 

We are also very conscious that the MHA is currently applied 

disproportionately to people from some BAME communities. 

RCPsych recognises that racism and racial discrimination is one of many 
factors which can have a significant, negative impact on a person's life 
chances and mental health. We are particularly concerned about the 

disproportionate impact on people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
communities, notably those of Black African and Caribbean heritage. It can 

lead to substantial disparity in access to and experiences of various areas 

of psychiatric care, including crisis care, admissions, pathways into care, 
readmissions, use of seclusion and detentions under MHA. 11 

We have highlighted our cautious position to Welsh Government. 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



In 2018 the RCPsych paper on racism in mental health12 highlighted that 
although Black British adults had the highest mean score for severity of 
mental health symptoms, they were the least likely to receive treatment 
for mental illness. We repeat our calls that efforts to tackle this should be 
urgently prioritised by Government, non-governmental organisations and 
professional bodies. 

Following this paper, the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health 
based at the RCPsych published a document called Advancing Mental 
Health Equality (AMHE)13 which is a resource to support commissioners
and providers to tackle mental health inequalities in their local areas 14• This
document should be a key tool for mental health commissioners to plan 
how they should reshape their services as they adjust following the COVID-
19 crisis, including how any use of remote consultations and other digital 

solutions are appropriately designed. 

Additionally, The College has endorsed the Cultural Competency in Mental 
Health Services initiative that has been developed by Diverse Cymru, 
working closely in its development and in ensuring that every health board 
is working towards this standard. 

Mental health services for older adults 

A recent survey of RCPsych members has found that psychiatrists working 
with older adults have seen the biggest drop off in the ability to deliver 
regular appointments. With over half saying that long term appointments 
have either decreased or significantly decreased since the crisis started. 

This is not surprising considering they are the group most at risk from 
infection and have been advised to take extra precautions around 
isolating. It may also be that they are the group less able to engage with 
their mental health team on line. Although it is important not to generalise 

and say that all older people will not be comfortable talking to a 
psychiatrist over the internet. 

Our older adult faculty has also reported restrictions on care home 

ad missions. Although, this is for the safety of existing residents our Old Age 
Faculty is concerned for their patients with advanced dementia that need 
constant support and care but cannot be admitted to a specialist facility. 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



Equalities considerations on COVID-19 impact on healthcare staff 

In response to emerging evidence on the disproportionate impact of 

Coronavirus on people from BAME communities, the government has set 

up a review into this issue. This disproportionate impact is also being seen 

in the healthcare system, with evidence emerging that disproportionate 

numbers of BAME healthcare staff are being affected by 

Coronavirus15
,
16

,
17

,
18

• In response to this, the President of the Royal College 

of Psychiatrists set up a Task and Finish Group to look into this issue, and 

develop recommendations for mental health services across the UK to 

help them support BAME staff, put risk mitigation processes in place, and 

develop longer term solutions to address inequality in the workplace. 

The Task and Finish Group reviewed the evidence that currently exists on 

the impact of the virus on BAME healthcare staff, and has found that the 

disproportionate mortality of health and care staff from black and minority 

ethnic backgrounds during the COVID-19 pandemic is not fully explained 

by other suggested risk factors. This has an adverse impact on the entire 

mental health workforce and additionally involves further direct and 

indirect harm through longer term morbidity, physical recovery and 

psychological consequences of this unequal disease burden. 

There are multiple risk factors associated with the increased impact of 

COVID-19 in the BAME health workforce, which include biological, 

medical, sociological and structural issues19
,
20

. WRES data also indicates 

that BAME healthcare staff are more likely than their white counterparts 

to experience bullying and discrimination in the workplace21
, and so 

therefore may not feel able to freely raise concerns. 

This underpins the need to ensure that BAME colleagues are proactively 

supported by leadership and management during and after this crisis, for 

their security and the security of the future mental health workforce. In the 

short term, appropriate and robust risk mitigation for BAME mental health 

staff should be put in place during the COVID-19, and access to support 

should be readily made available and accessible. 

In the longer term, recommendations on addressing inequalities within 

the health workforce and system must be implemented in a robust and 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



transparent manner and understanding of the value and strengths of a 

diverse mental health workforce acknowledged and communicated 

across the system. Furthermore, the longer-term psychological impacts of 

the COVID-19 pandemic on BAME healthcare staff may be significant and 

complex, and mental health service management should lead the way in 

ensuring support is adequate, available and accessible for those that need 

it. 

The full report from the group identifies the need for a good, collaborative 

risk assessment that will enable robust risk mitigation to be implemented 

and support individual staff members to feel more confident about being 

protected at work while undertaking duties in the care of others. 

We have shared with the Advisory Group that has been convened by Welsh 

Government and are keen that this recommendation is taken forward. 

Reducing restrictive practices 

People with a learning disability and/or autism in inpatient settings are 
already vulnerable to and disproportionately represented in the use of 
inappropriate and excessive restraint, seclusion and long-term 
segregation. Restrictive practices are also used disproportionately on those 
from ethnic minority communities, women and girls. 22 

During the pandemic services and staff are still required to commit to 
reducing their use of restraint. The only changes to patient care should be 
those needed to manage and prevent the spread of COVID-19. At every 
opportunity, they should consider whether there is a less restrictive option 
available to them. Any use of restraint must be appropriate, be 
proportionate to the risks involved and end as soon as possible. Providers 
should refer to their ethics committees where required and as always it is 
essential that all staff using restraint techniques are fully trained. 

RCPsych has developed the COVID-19 Mental Health Improvement 
Network to support mental health teams to share and learn from each 
other to maintain and improve safety in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. It is working to identify areas where improvement packages 
are needed during this period, one of such areas is restrictive practice. A 
short "change package" is available, along with a series of webinars in order 
to support services in this area. 

Tudalen y pecyn 93



Once the initial crisis is over it is critical that learning from RCPsych's 

reducing restrictive practice programme is considered for wider roll-out 

across Wales. The initial pilots from England have demonstrated that with 

the right support health boards can significantly reduce how often they 

use restrictive practices. 

Additional Comment 

We have closely monitored the views of psychiatrists, patients and services 

during this time. It is important to recognise how the mental health 

workforce, alongside patients and carers have adjusted to the pandemic 

under significant pressure. 

It does further highlight that there is not parity between physical and 

mental health, and that there is need to strategically invest to support 

some of the most vulnerable people in society. 

It is essential that the College has direct contribution in how services will 

look to recover and prepare for a second phase. 

We must all also ensure that planning considers opportunities that can be 

sustained, post COVID-19 and will continue to have an impact across the 

health service. 

Once such consideration that the College would particularly choose to be 

highlighted and recognised, is the successful work of Technology Enabled 

Care Cymru (TEC Cymru). The rollout of telehealth and video consultation 

was informed from a pilot project 'CWTCH', for CAMHS services in Gwent. 

The pilot lead, Prof Alka Ahuja was subsequently seconded to Welsh 

Government as a clinical lead for TEC Cymru. 

There are a number of additional innovations that stand to make a 

significant improvement to services, across the NHS as well as ensuring we 

work towards a parity between services. These are highlighted in our 

manifesto and we believe will compliment much of the Committees 

considerations that will inevitably arise from this inquiry, in considering 

what the Health & Social Care service could like in recovery and post 

Tudalen y pecyn 94



COVID-19. We would be keen to follow up and give further suggestion to 

the Committee. 

As a final point, in this response. 

40% of psychiatrists in Wales have reported that their mental health and 

wellbeing has suffered or significantly suffered during this time. Alongside 

the challenge presented by the nature of the virus; there is more that can 

be done to support the impact of a pandemic on mental health services, 

its patients and workforce. The College is well positioned to advise and 

reflect on the experiences of psychiatrists. 

Our additional recommendations 

• That specialist mental health services have a direct voice within

the recovery planning from Welsh Government
• That the impact upon the wellbeing of Psychiatrists (and its

unique determinants as highlighted in this response) as well as the

wider NHS and Social Care workforce is further examined by
Welsh Government in partnership with the College.

1 The Royal College of Psychiatrists issued a survey to its members working in the National 
Health Service across the United Kingdom. It was in the field from Wednesday 15 April until 
the morning of Friday 17 April. 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



2 https://www.hsj.co.uk/finance-and-efficiency/exclusive-hundreds-of-patients-kept-in-
d istressi ng-dorm itory-style-wa rds/7025290.a rti cle 
3 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalan 
deconomicwellbeingintheuk/may2020 
4 https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-poverty 
5 

https://www.ons.qov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalan 
deconomicwellbeingintheuk/may2020 
6 https://www.mentalhealth.orq.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-physical-health­
conditions Raj, D., Stansfeld, S., Weich, S., Stewart, R., McBride, 0., Brugha, T., ... & Papp, M. 
(2016). Chapter 13: Comorbidity in mental and physical illness. In S. McManus, P. Bebbington, 
R. Jenkins, & T. Brugha (Eds.), Mental health and wellbeing in England: Adult Psychiatric
Morbidity Survey 2014. Leeds: NHS Digita
7 Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2016, Healing a Divided Britain. 
8 ONS, Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 March 
2020 to 10 April 2020, 
9 https://www.rcpsych.ac. u k/a bout-us/respond i ng-to-covid-19/respond i ng-to-covid-19-
g u ida nce-for-cl in icia ns/lega l-covid-l 9-gu ida nce-for-c Ii n i c ia ns 
10 NHS Digital (2017) Mental Health Act Statistics, Annual Figures: 2016-17, Experimental 
statistics 
11 Royal College of Psychiatry, Racism and Mental Health, 2018 
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/PS01 18a.pdf 
12 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-
policy/position-statements/ps01_l8.pdf?sfvrsn=53b60962_ 4 
13 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/improving-care/nccmh/care-pathways/advancing-mental-
health-equality 
14 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/improving-care/nccmh/care-pathways/advancing-mental-
health-equality 
15 NHS confederation (2020) The impact of COVID-19 on BME communities and health and 
care staff. Available from: https://www.nhsconfed.org/­
/media/Confederation/Files/Publications/Documents/BRIEFING_lmpact-of-COVID-19-
BME_communities-and-staff_FNL.pdf 
16 Health Services Journal (2020) Exclusive: deaths of NHS staff from COVID-19 analysed. 
Available from: https://www.hsj.co.uk/exclusive-deaths-of-nhs-staff-from-covid-l9-
analysed/702747l.article 
17 Kanani, Nikki. lssar, Prerana. (2020) Note for all BAME colleagues working in the NHS. 
Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/note-for-all-bame-colleagues-working­
in-the-nhs/ 
18 Chakravorty I, Daga S, Dave S, Chakravorty S, Shala N, Menon G, Mehta R & Samrah JS. An 
online survey of healthcare professionals in the COVID-19 Pandemic in the UK. Sushruta 
2020 (Jul) voll3(2): ePub 25.04.2020 (pre-print vl.2") DOI: 10.38192/13.2.9 
19 Kings Fund (2020) Ethnic Minority Deaths and COVID-19: What are we to do? Available 
from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/04/ethnic-minority-deaths-covid-l9 
20 NHS confederation (2020) The impact of COVID-19 on BME communities and health and 
care staff. Available from: https://www.nhsconfed.org/­
/media/Confederation/Files/Publications/Documents/BRIEFING_lmpact-of-COVID-19-
BME_communities-and-staff_FNL.pdf 
21 NHS (2019) NHS workforce race equality standard: 2019 data analysis report for NHS trusts. 
Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/wres-2019-
data-report.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 96



22 

bttps-//assets pu bl isbi ng service gov u k/government/u p!oads/system/u pioads/attachment 
data/file078897/Modernising the Mental Health Act -

increasing choice reducing compulsion.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



Response to Health, Social Care and Sport Committee: Inquiry into the impact of 

the Covid-19 outbreak, and its management, on health and social care in Wales 

Further Written Evidence from the Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales 

For further information, please contact: 

The Royal College of Psychiatrists in Wales (The College) is the professional medical 

body responsible for developing and supporting psychiatrists throughout their 

careers, and in setting and raising standards of psychiatry throughout Wales. 

The College aims to improve outcomes for people with mental disorders and the 

mental health of individuals, their families and communities. In order to achieve this, 

the College sets standards and promotes excellence in psychiatry; leads, represents 

and supports psychiatrists; improves the scientific understanding of mental illness; 

works with and advocates for patients, carers and their organisations. 

We are pleased to be invited to present oral evidence to the Committee, and have 

accordingly provided additional written evidence in support, in this additional 

submission. 

For ease, we have identified the initial written evidence that we provided for the 

Committee, whilst differentiating additional evidence. 

Section One - Initial & Updated written evidence 

Section Two -Additional thoughts and recommendations 

Section One - Initial written evidence 

The Royal College of Psychiatrists Wales is pleased to respond to this inquiry. In 

determining a response, we have highlighted 2 initial areas, alongside a comment 

on recovery planning. The College would be very happy to provide any further 

evidence to the committee, in writing or virtually. Our areas: 

• Delivering core NHS and care services during the pandemic and beyond,

• Coronavirus and the impact on people with protected characteristics.

Tudalen y pecyn 98



Delivering core NHS and care services during the pandemic and beyond 

While COVID-19 is a virus, it is having a profound impact on the nation's mental 

health. If there is a post Covid-19 recession, the economic downturn will have 

significant implications for the nation's mental health and suicide rates. 

The virus is also affecting the mental health and well-being of NHS and social care 

staff. The ONS has reported a sharp rise in the number of people reporting high levels 

of anxiety and our survey of psychiatrists has found that there has been an increase 

in the number of urgent and emergency cases seen by psychiatrists. 

Our recent surveys of psychiatrists, at the earlier stage of the pandemic (15th
-17th April 

and ist-6th May) have also highlighted significant concerns that psychiatrists are 

being forced to put themselves and their patients at risk, delivering care without 

adequate PPE or access to tests for themselves, their families or their patients. 

Our recommendations for delivering core services 

• Consistent message sent to the public that if you have a mental health need

you should still seek help.
• Mental health services must be adequately supported to deal with the

increase in urgent and emergency demands
• Expand and monitor efforts to ensure all staff working in mental health care

get access to the PPE and COVID-79 tests they need.
• NHS Wales should closely monitor the implementation of the guidance on

infection control and offer additional support to those areas that are

struggling to follow them.

• Provide ongoing support to healthcare staff after the initial peak and give

them support to recover before any potential second wave.
• Invest in expanded mental health services to cope with the likely rise in

demand for services following the initial COVID-79 peak.

• Invest in support for the general population in the event of an economic

downturn.

How has demand for mental health services been affected by the pandemic? 

Our survey of psychiatrists working in the NHS has found that the COVID-19 
pandemic has led to an overall increase in emergency and urgent appointments and 
an overall decrease in the number of patients they have seen for more routine 
support: 

• Emergency interventions/appointments - 13% have seen workload increase,
30% have seen a decrease

N 

Tudalen y pecyn 99



• Urgent interventions/appointments - 36% have seen workload increase, 32%

decrease
• Appointments/interventions normally conducted within four weeks - 11%

have seen an increase, 54% a decrease
• Appointments/interventions normally within three months - only 14% have

seen an increase, compared to 39% seeing a decrease
• Appointments/interventions normally after three months - just 5.5% have

seen this area of workload increase, compared to 51% who have seen these

caseloads decline.

The decrease in non-urgent cases is as concerning as the rise in urgent and 
emergency cases expressed by some of our psychiatrists. It is much harder for 
mental health teams to deliver routine services while managing social distancing, 
dealing with an increase in urgent and emergency cases and supporting patients 
who may have COVID-19. 

Psychiatrists report to us their concern that temporary drop offs in some activity 
represented a calm before the storm, due to some services being delayed and some 
patients avoiding contact due to fear of infection or concern that they are being a 
burden on the NHS. It is critical that people are aware that NHS mental health 
services are still open. Those who fail to get the help they need now, may become 
more seriously ill further down the line. 

According to our survey, psychiatrists working with older adults had seen the biggest 
decrease in regular appointments. Over half of respondents stated that long term 
appointments have either decreased or significantly decreased since the crisis 
started. Unfortunately, this is not surprising considering they are the group most at 
risk from infection and have been advised to take extra precautions around isolating. 
It may also be that they are the group less able to engage with their mental health 
team via increasingly adopted methods of remote working such as on line video calls. 
Although it is important not to generalise and assume all older people will be 
uncomfortable talking to a psychiatrist over the internet. 

Our faculty of older adult psychiatry had reported restrictions on care home 
admissions. Although, this is for the safety of existing residents our psychiatrists are 
concerned for their patients with advanced dementia who need constant support 
and care but cannot be admitted to a specialist facility. Guidance on hospital 
discharge issued from Welsh Government has looked to address this challenge. 

Our survey found that psychiatrists working in Liaison mental health, and General 
adult services have had the biggest increase in emergency 
a ppoi ntments/i nterventi ons. 

Psychiatrists also reported a significant drop off rate in regular referrals to child and 
adolescent mental health services. Far fewer children were being referred from 
primary care to mental health services. This is particularly concerning for patients 
with mental health conditions which have an increased mortality rate such as eating 
disorders, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



e of our Forensic Faculty of psychiatrists working in secure NHS facilities and 

prisons also expressed significant concerns about their ability to care for patients. 

They had faced a reduction in referrals and a reduction in the number of hospital 

patients they've been able to transfer to community services. It is particularly difficult 

to deliver services in prisons as many of our psychiatrists have struggled to access 
patients although we have had reports that this is improving. 

Another area where our psychiatrists have expressed significant concerns is within 

addiction services. Our Addictions Faculty members have told us that some people 

with alcohol addictions problem are drinking much more and becoming even more 

chaotic in their lifestyles as a result of the pandemic. We have had reports of a 

significant number of people relapsing because of the strains of lock down and 

being cut off from their friends and families. 

How mental health services have adapted to deal with the crisis 

Many providers of mental health services reacted quickly to change the way services 
act in response for the crisis. Many psychiatrists are currently working an 'altered 

timetable' due to reconfiguration of services. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, it is essential that those who use mental health 

services continue to get the care they need. Remote consultations, using telephone 

calls, audio and video to provide care for patients has already become a fundamental 
part of the way mental health services provide care. As we move beyond the peak of 

the crisis, this is likely to become more standard practice and there are concerted 

efforts to continue to increase capacity. 

Many psychiatrists are currently working remotely, showing that services are able to 

provide flexibility for staff as well as patients. 

Those with a lack of digital literacy, lacking in confidence using technology or with 
little or no access to digital platforms must not be disadvantaged. Use of telephone 

consultations, rather than more complex video platforms may be sufficient for lower 

risk conversations or to ensure engagement with those who lack digital technology 

or skills. 

The College has published on line resources for people with a mental illness and their 
carers on issues such as medication and how to manage their conditions during the 

crisis. 

Access to PPE 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



air of college surveys found that psychiatrists are being forced to put themselves 

and their patients at risk, delivering care without adequate PPE or access to tests for 

themselves, their families or their patients 1. 

One psychiatrist surveyed said "There are extreme shortages of PPE and most of us 

are at risk. Only very limited supply is obtained and most of the time frontline staff 

are refused risking their lives. Staff are terrified and afraid." 

Our survey (in the field from 1-6 May) has shown that a significant proportion of 

psychiatrists are concerned that they are not able to access the level of PPE set out 

in the guidance. 

• Around 16% of psychiatrists in the UK don't have access to correct PPE.

• In Scotland this was 8%, Wales 13%, Northern Ireland 9% and 18% in England.

The national and regional breakdowns are as follows 

LI)

Tudalen y pecyn 102



Chart 1 - Are you able to access the following PPE kit when you need it (in line with 

the latest guidance from your organisation)? (NB - don't know responses were 

excluded) 

Can you currently access the correct level of PPE that you 
need? 

UK (n=l,178) 

England (n=946) 

Northern Ireland (n=32) 

Scotland (n= 137) 

Wales (n=63) 

Eastern (n=89) 

London (n=219) 

North West. (n= 111) 

Northern & Yorks (n= 161) 

South Eastern (n=l28) 

South �st. (n= 112) 

Trent (n=44) 

West Mi elands (n=82) 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

■Yes ■No

*Update. We further surveyed members in Wales in June and the figure was

consistent.

Some of our psychiatrists have previously expressed concerns about the potential 
impact the lack of adequate PPE is likely to have. Some of the most concerning 

responses to our first member survey (in the field from 15-17 April) included 

psychiatrists saying that: 

• ULast week we did CPR on a patient who had hung themselves with
no fit tested PPE."

• 7here are extreme shortages of PPE and most of us are at risk. Only

very limited supply is obtained and most of the time frontline staff are

refused risking their lives. Staff are terrified and afraid."
• USpitting in Covid positive patients is a real issue and not able to get

the appropriate PPE, social distancing impossible in inpatient
settings."

Access to testing 

Tudalen y pecyn 103



other major concern raised by our psychiatrists is that a significant proportion 

were unable to access tests for themselves, their families or their patients if they have 

concerns if they have COVID-19. The current Government guidance states that any 

NHS worker or their family member with suspected COVID-19 should be able to 

access testing and that tests should be given to any new patient entering an 

inpatient setting. 

When our psychiatrists across the UK were surveyed (1-6 May) we found that. In 

Wales: 

• Around one in ten psychiatrists working in the NHS said they were not able to

access a test for COVID-19 for themselves if they had symptoms, if you include
those who did not know if they could access a test it was up to almost a

quarter.
• One in four either could not or did not know if they could access a test for

their patients
• Almost a half (45%) could not or did not know if they could access a test for

members of their household

Whilst these findings have improved since our first survey (15-17 April), there are still 

areas for improvement. 

*Update. We further surveyed members in Wales in June, with reported increased

access for testing for patients.

• Less than one in ten psychiatrists working in the NHS said they were now not
able to access a test for COVID-19 for themselves if they had symptoms, if you

include those who did not know if they could access a test it was still up to

almost a quarter.
• The availability for testing for patients had improved, with 93% reporting that

they were able to access testing
• Still, almost a half (45%) could not or did not know if they could access a test

for members of their household

Infection control and prevention 

The majority of mental health units in the UK were never designed to contain a 
highly contagious illness. Potential environmental risks include aged estates with a 
significant proportion of dormitory style accommodation, small shared offices, 
shared computers, shared patient facilities, sitting or dining rooms, shared toilets, 
poor ventilation and air-conditioning. Particularly worryingly last year there were 
1,176 patients (UK-wide) having to share mixed dormitories2

• 

Tudalen y pecyn 104



In addition, it is often the case that some patients may be unable to follow advice on 
containment, isolation and testing, which presents a further clear infection risk to be 
considered and managed. 

We are concerned that some NHS mental health estates are unsuitable, making it 
very hard to follow guidance. The guidance includes recommendations that all new 
patients coming into a mental health, learning disability, autism, dementia or 
specialist inpatient facility are tested for COVID-19, including asymptomatic patients, 
and kept separate from other patients until they get their results back. 

As shown above many of our psychiatrists have expressed significant concerns that 
they are currently unable to access testing for their patients. To date it has been very 
difficult to effectively cohort due to lack of adequate access to testing, therefore it is 
important that effective delivery of this change in testing policy in mental health 
settings is monitored and not overlooked. 

Many sites also lack the space to keep patients separate especially those with mixed 
dormitories. Consideration is needed on how Health Boards can be supported to 
undertake the complex task of cohorting effectively within their estates, both in the 
immediate term and looking to the medium and longer term. 

On admission, space is needed for confirmed COVID cases, a second space for 

patients confirmed via testing to be COVID negative and a third space patients 

whose COVID status is unconfirmed while test results awaited. In addition, patients 

who need shielding should be kept away from those with confirmed COVID. 

It is important to understand the extent to which local areas are able to follow this 
guidance, and this is monitored, and additional support is offered to those areas that 
are struggling to follow them. 

How we can we support the mental health of NHS staff? 

At this time, NHS staff may feel stressed for many reasons such as having to make 
difficult decisions about patients' care, the amount of work, being uncertain about 
the future, worrying about taking the virus home with them and infecting others, 
and/or less contact with family and friends. 

The role of NHS team leaders, managers and supervisors is crucial to ensure NHS 
staff have the mental health support they need. NHS leaders need to have frank 
discussions with staff about the challenges that lie ahead, not to sugar coat them 
but also not to overstate the trauma they are likely to face. These discussions should 
address the difficult decisions that staff may have to make. 

We also recommend supervisors speak with their teams using structured forums 
similar to the ones provided by Schwartz Rounds. Such forums enable staff to come 
together with their leader after their shift and talk honestly about what did and 
didn't go right, the difficulties they faced and the associated emotional reactions. 

Tudalen y pecyn 105



While staff will have limited time to be involved in such discussions, this approach is 

likely to reduce the potentially damaging mental health impacts of working on a 

stressful hospital ward. This should be done during staffs normal working hours. 

For further information, we have published a range of resources for team leaders and 

supervisors as part of our COVID-19 guidance. We have also developed specific 
resources for psychiatrists on taking care of themselves as well as helping other 

healthcare professionals. 

Despite the challenges they face during the pandemic, most NHS workers will not 
suffer from a mental illness. With good leadership, as well as properly preparing and 

supporting NHS staff, most will avoid developing longer-term difficulties. 

For those who do need help, we should provide evidence-based care both in the 

short term to help NHS staff get back to work and in the long term. The available 

evidence strongly suggests that the support given to NHS staff members as the crisis 
begins to recede is of critical importance in determining whether they will 

experience psychological growth, develop a mental health disorder or neither. 

Supporting the health and wellbeing of NHS workers following the first COVID-19 

outbreak is likely to be even more critical. To this end, the NHS must give its staff 
members - who have been working intensively in arduous circumstances - sufficient 

time to 'reset' before they embark on their usual work. 

This time will be crucial for them to access the social support they need, and to 

readjust to the 'new normal' without being under too much pressure while trying to 

recover. Should there be second wave of coronavirus this rest period will be even 
more crucial 

We have developed some concrete elements that we believe should be put in place 

for staff in every NHS Health Board, including: 

• Any staff member who unexpectedly does not turn up for a shift should be

proactively contacted.
• Once someone completes their COVID-19 work they should be thanked, be

provided with opportunities to informally mix with their colleagues and given
relevant mental health and welfare information.

• Workplace supervisors should carry out a structured return to post-COVID-19

work interview.
• Staff should be written to again three and 12 months [and possibly later] post

completing their COVID-19 work and be given information about how they

can check their own mental health.

How we can we support people's mental health after the initial peak? 

Tudalen y pecyn 106



It seems inevitable that once the pandemic is past its peak, there will be an increase 

in demand for mental health services and for support for the general population. 

That need will increase more if there is an economic downturn. This may be because 

of pent up demand caused by the current fall in referrals, the consequences of 

lockdown, economic uncertainty and the trauma of contracting or losing loved ones 

to COVID-19. 

The recent ONS wellbeing survey found that between 20 March and 30 March 2020 

almost half of the population of Great Britain (49.6%) reported high levels of anxiety. 
This compares to 21% of people who said the same last year3

• 

A significant economic downturn following the crisis is widely predicted and there 

is strong evidence of a link between economic difficulties and higher rates of mental 
health problems and suicide4

• We have already seen from the recent ONS survey that 

people who had experienced a reduction in household finances because of COVID-

19 reported 16% higher anxiety on average5
• 

Mental health services, which are overstretched at the best of times, will come under 

even more pressure. One of the biggest causes of this is a lack of trained staff. 

In March, we released our manifesto for the 2021 Senedd Cymru elections. We 

highlighted particular areas of focus for developing the workforce in Wales that will 

support ambition, and it's essential that this is confirmed and commitments are 

made within the mental health workforce strategies that have been outlined within 

Welsh Government's 'Together for Mental Health Strategy'. 

It is important that these commitments are not forgotten, and that 
recommendations from our manifesto are brought forward in working towards 

achieving parity between services; and respective of parity in developing parity for a 

mental health workforce. 

Coronavirus and the impact on people with protected characteristics 

Over a third of people with a severe mental health illness (37.6%) also have a long­

term physical condition6 meaning that they are disproportionately at risk of being 

affected by COVID-19. 

In the UK, people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds (BAME), face 

persistent and wide-ranging inequalities. An individual from a Black, Asian or 

minority ethnic background is more likely to experience poverty, to have poorer 

educational outcomes, to be unemployed, and to come in contact with the criminal 

justice system 7. These, in turn, are risk factors for developing a mental illness. 

0 
M 

Tudalen y pecyn 107



erging data from the COVID-19 pandemic clearly shows that BAME groups are 

significantly more likely to die from COVID-198
, the reasons for this are currently not 

well established, though societal inequalities are likely to play a role. 

This submission focuses on what impact the crisis is having on mental health 

services and those services that are delivered to people with protected 

characteristics. 

We have also looked to address the Coronavirus Act 2020 and the impact that will 

have on those with protected characteristics. 

Recommendations to support people with protected characteristics 

• The emergency changes to the Mental Health Act should only be used

where patients would otherwise be put at risk and their use should be

closely monitored.

• The need for the enactment and prospective enforcement of the M HA

emergency changes, should be closely monitored and justified -At present,

we do not support a case for enactment and enforcement
• Health Boards should adopt the College guidance and work with individual

staff to develop appropriate and robust risk mitigation for BAME mental

health staff. and access to support should be readily made available and

accessible.
• When the peak of the crisis is over mental health services should not go back

to normal instead commissioners should learn from the National

Collaborating Centre for Mental Health Advancing Mental Health Equality

(AMHE) guidance when redesigning services
• When supporting patients during the COVID-19 crisis staff should use the

least restrictive option that is possible

The emergency coronavirus legislation and mental health 

Schedule 8 of the Coronavirus Act creates the ability for changes to be made to 

mental health legislation across the UK. These changes have so far not been enacted 

apart from those related to the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986 - in 

Northern Ireland. 

The changes to the Mental Health Act 1983 (England and Wales) (MHA) would allow 

certain functions relating to the detention and treatment of patients to be carried 

out with fewer doctors' opinions or certifications. It also temporarily allows for the 

Tudalen y pecyn 108



extension or removal of certain time limits relating to the detention and transfer of 

patients. Full details of what this would entail can be found on our website9 

Although Black British adults had the highest mean score for severity of mental 
health symptoms, they were the least likely to receive treatment for mental illness. 
Where they do come into contact with services, it is disproportionately based on a 

detention order requiring them to stay in hospital10
• 

If this legislation is enacted, it would disproportionately impact these groups. We are 

extremely conscious that enacting MHA emergency powers would weaken patient 
safeguards, so it is essential that their use must always be justified. People shouldn't 

be denied access to the care they need, and potentially left in a situation where their 

own life is at risk due to a lack of staff. If those needing care don't get it because of a 

depleted workforce it will further affect an already disadvantaged group and so on 

balance. 

We have monitored the views of psychiatrists closely in relation to delays that may 

have been experienced in using the MHA in the last couple of months. 

75% of psychiatrists had not reported trouble convening a MHA assessment in 
Wales, only 7% had (the remaining responders are not convening community MHA 

assessments during their work) 

Presently we do not believe there is an evidence base to justify enforcement of the 

MHA amendments in Wales, should they be enacted by the UK Government. 

Enacting the MHA emergency powers would weaken of patient safeguards. 

Therefore, their use would need to be justified every single time they are used. 

If emergency powers are enacted, they should only be used where necessary and 

justifiable. It is essential that it is clearly communicated that the powers, if enacted 

they should not be used nationally, only where the lack of staff caused by the COVID-
19 crisis means a patient's safety is being put at risk and where there is no alternative. 

We are also very conscious that the MHA is currently applied disproportionately to 

people from some BAME communities. 

RCPsych recognises that racism and racial discrimination is one of many factors 
which can have a significant, negative impact on a person's life chances and mental 

health. We are particularly concerned about the disproportionate impact on people 

from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, notably those of Black African 

and Caribbean heritage. It can lead to substantial disparity in access to and 

experiences of various areas of psychiatric care, including crisis care, admissions, 

pathways into care, readmissions, use of seclusion and detentions under MHA. 11 

We have highlighted our cautious position to Welsh Government. 
N 

M 

Tudalen y pecyn 109



18 the RCPsych paper on racism in mental health12 highlighted that although 

Black British adults had the highest mean score for severity of mental health 

symptoms, they were the least likely to receive treatment for mental illness. We 

repeat our calls that efforts to tackle this should be urgently prioritised by 

Government, non-governmental organisations and professional bodies. 

Following this paper, the National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health based at 

the RCPsych published a document called Advancing Mental Health Equality 

(AMHE)13 which is a resource to support commissioners and providers to tackle 

mental health inequalities in their local areas14
• This document should be a key tool 

for mental health commissioners to plan how they should reshape their services as 

they adjust following the COVID-19 crisis, including how any use of remote 

consultations and other digital solutions are appropriately designed. 

Additionally, The College has endorsed the Cultural Competency in Mental Health 

Services initiative that has been developed by Diverse Cymru, working closely in its 
development and in ensuring that every health board is working towards this 
standard. 

We also support the recommendations identified with the First Minister's Socio­

Economic Group advisory report that amongst many positive recommendations 
advises: 

The Report asks Welsh Government to commit to support and fund practical 

ongoing actions in providing appropriate, equitable, and culturally competent 

mental health services to individuals from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 

backgrounds to help address the acknowledged inequities that exist in mental 

health take-up and service provision. It suggests that this should be achieved 

through utilising the Royal College of Psychiatrists in Wales endorsed Diverse Cymru 

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Mental Health Cultural Competence Certification 

Scheme and any other such practical actions. 

We welcome Welsh Governments commitment to this recommendation. 

Mental health services for older adults 

A recent survey of RCPsych members has found that psychiatrists working with older 

adults have seen the biggest drop off in the ability to deliver regular appointments. 

With over half saying that long term appointments have either decreased or 

significantly decreased since the crisis started. 

This is not surprising considering they are the group most at risk from infection and 

have been advised to take extra precautions around isolating. It may also be that 

they are the group less able to engage with their mental health team online. 

Although it is important not to generalise and say that all older people will not be 

comfortable talking to a psychiatrist over the internet. 

Tudalen y pecyn 110



Our older adult faculty has also reported restrictions on care home admissions. 

Although, this is for the safety of existing residents our Old Age Faculty is concerned 

for their patients with advanced dementia that need constant support and care but 

cannot be admitted to a specialist facility. 

Equalities considerations on COVID-19 impact on healthcare staff 

In response to emerging evidence on the disproportionate impact of Coronavirus on 

people from BAME communities, the government has set up a review into this issue. 

This disproportionate impact is also being seen in the healthcare system, with 

evidence emerging that disproportionate numbers of BAME healthcare staff are 

being affected by Coronavirus15
,
16

,
17

,
18

• In response to this, the President of the Royal 

College of Psychiatrists set up a Task and Finish Group to look into this issue, and 

develop recommendations for mental health services across the UK to help them 

support BAME staff, put risk mitigation processes in place, and develop longer term 

solutions to address inequality in the workplace. 

The Task and Finish Group reviewed the evidence that currently exists on the impact 

of the virus on BAME healthcare staff, and has found that the disproportionate 

mortality of health and care staff from black and minority ethnic backgrounds 

during the COVID-19 pandemic is not fully explained by other suggested risk factors. 

This has an adverse impact on the entire mental health workforce and additionally 

involves further direct and indirect harm through longer term morbidity, physical 

recovery and psychological consequences of this unequal disease burden. 

There are multiple risk factors associated with the increased impact of COVID-19 in 

the BAME health workforce, which include biological, medical. sociological and 

structural issues19
,
20

• WRES data also indicates that BAME healthcare staff are more 

likely than their white counterparts to experience bullying and discrimination in the 

workplace21. and so therefore may not feel able to freely raise concerns. 

This underpins the need to ensure that BAME colleagues are proactively supported 

by leadership and management during and after this crisis, for their security and the 

security of the future mental health workforce. In the short term, appropriate and 

robust risk mitigation for BAME mental health staff should be put in place during 

the COVID-19, and access to support should be readily made available and 

accessible. 

In the longer term, recommendations on addressing inequalities within the health 

workforce and system must be implemented in a robust and transparent manner 

and understanding of the value and strengths of a diverse mental health workforce 

acknowledged and communicated across the system. Furthermore, the longer-term 

Tudalen y pecyn 111



c ological impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on BAME healthcare staff may be 

significant and complex, and mental health service management should lead the 

way in ensuring support is adequate, available and accessible for those that need it. 

The full report from the group identifies the need for a good, collaborative risk 

assessment that will enable robust risk mitigation to be implemented and support 

individual staff members to feel more confident about being protected at work 

while undertaking duties in the care of others. 

We have shared with the Advisory Group that has been convened by Welsh 

Government and are keen that this recommendation is taken forward. 

Reducing restrictive practices 

People with a learning disability and/or autism in inpatient settings are already 
vulnerable to and disproportionately represented in the use of inappropriate and 
excessive restraint, seclusion and long-term segregation. Restrictive practices are 
also used disproportionately on those from ethnic minority communities, women 
and girls. 22 

During the pandemic services and staff are still required to commit to reducing their 
use of restraint. The only changes to patient care should be those needed to manage 
and prevent the spread of COVID-19. At every opportunity, they should consider 
whether there is a less restrictive option available to them. Any use of restraint must 
be appropriate, be proportionate to the risks involved and end as soon as possible. 
Providers should refer to their ethics committees where required and as always it is 
essential that all staff using restraint techniques are fully trained. 

RCPsych has developed the COVID-19 Mental Health Improvement Network to 
support mental health teams to share and learn from each other to maintain and 
improve safety in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. It is working to identify areas 
where improvement packages are needed during this period, one of such areas is 
restrictive practice. A short "change package" is available, along with a series of 
webinars in order to support services in this area. 

Once the initial crisis is over it is critical that learning from RCPsych's reducing 

restrictive practice programme is considered for wider roll-out across Wales. The 

initial pilots from England have demonstrated that with the right support health 

boards can significantly reduce how often they use restrictive practices. 

Additional Comment 

LI) 
M 

Tudalen y pecyn 112



ave closely monitored the views of psychiatrists, patients and services during 

this time. It is important to recognise how the mental health workforce, alongside 

patients and carers have adjusted to the pandemic under significant pressure. 

It does further highlight that there is not parity between physical and mental health, 

and that there is need to strategically invest to support some of the most vulnerable 

people in society. 

It is essential that the College has direct contribution in how services will look to 

recover and prepare for a second phase. We have had positive discussion with NHS 

Wales and Welsh Government during this time, and are hopeful that 

recommendations that we have given are taken forward. 

We must all also ensure that planning considers opportunities that can be sustained, 

post COVID-19 and will continue to have an impact across the health service. 

Once such consideration that the College would particularly choose to be 

highlighted and recognised, is the successful work of Technology Enabled Care 

Cymru (TEC Cymru). The rollout of telehealth and video consultation was informed 

from a pilot project 'CWTCH', for CAMHS services in Gwent. The pilot lead, Prof Alka 

Ahuja was subsequently seconded to Welsh Government as a clinical lead for TEC 

Cymru. 

There are a number of additional innovations that stand to make a significant 

improvement to services, across the NHS as well as ensuring we work towards a 

parity between services. These are highlighted in our manifesto and we believe will 

compliment much of the Committees considerations that will inevitably arise from 

this inquiry, in considering what the Health & Social Care service could like in 

recovery and post COVID-19. We would be keen to follow up and give further 

suggestion to the Committee as services continue to adapt. 

As an additional point in this response. 

40% of psychiatrists in Wales have reported that their mental health and 

wellbeing has suffered or significantly suffered during this time. Alongside the 

challenge presented by the nature of the virus; there is more that can be done to 

support the impact of a pandemic on mental health services, its patients and 

workforce. The College is well positioned to advise and reflect on the experiences 

of psychiatrists. 

Our recommendations 

• That specialist mental health services have a direct voice within the

recovery planning from Welsh Government

Tudalen y pecyn 113



That the impact upon the wellbeing of Psychiatrists (and its unique 

determinants as highlighted in this response) as well as the wider NHS and 

Social Care workforce is further examined by Welsh Government in 

partnership with the College. 

Section 2 -Additional thoughts and recommendations 

We have provided some additional context for the Committee based upon further 

reflections since the initial written evidence submission. 

• RCPsych Wales will commit the next 12 months of its academic events and

CPD programme to be focussed upon Covid recovery for mental health

services. We would wish to do this in partnership with other key stakeholders,

including Welsh Government.

• Welsh Government should commit the role of Clinical Lead for TEC Cymru as

a permanent role.

• Welsh Government & NHS Wales should work with key stakeholders including

RCPsych Wales to consider and implement ways to alleviate waiting lists that

have significantly grown during the first phase of the pandemic.

We have written to Welsh Government to offer support in addressing memory 

assessment waiting lists across health boards in Wales, with consideration for 

additional consultant clinics, utilising remote assessments to tackle memory clinic 

backlogs. 

Recommendations for the NHS estate 

We would wish to reinforce recommendations on the appropriateness of much of 

the NHS mental health estate. There are both short and long term challenges and 

opportunities for improvement, and a parity between service investment. 

Recommendations for Supporting Psychiatrists 

• NHS Wales should work with RCPsych Wales to offer guidance and support

to Health Boards to ensure SPA time, Job planning arrangements, Rota

arrangements and other considerations, during recovery and during a

potential second wave.

• NHS Wales should adopt the RCPsych 'Covid organisational wellbeing'

guidance across Health Boards.

Tudalen y pecyn 114



• NHS Wales should adopt the RCPsych 'Going for Growth-An outline NHS staff

recovery plan post-Covid' guidance across Health Boards.'

Additional information on some vulnerable groups 

Children & Young People 

We were pleased to give evidence on the 9th June to the Children, Young People & 

Education committee on the impact of the pandemic, and welcomed the interim 

report published on the 8th July. 

We highlighted several observations alongside colleagues working in mental health. 

• Many children will respond to COVID-19 in a healthy way, but there are others

with intellectual disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, children with ACEs

and children with SMI who will not have been as able to process this

experience in a healthy way

• Children who are transitioning between settings (schools, to universities)

should be recognised as being at higher risk of poor mental health

• Ongoing support for parents' mental health needs must be provided in order

to support the mental health of children

• Ongoing support to teachers to be confident, manage anxiety and be

psychologically minded and open with their pupils must also be provided

• We should all continue to encourage parents and young people to seek help,

should they need it, in light of expanded access to services

Learning Disability 

The loss of consistent activities and disruption of routines for people with autism, 

learning disabilities or both has been significant, This has in some cases resulted in 

an increase in anxiety and/or challenging behaviour and on occasion led to the need 

to prescribe medication that would not have been necessary had these changes not 

occurred, such is the impact on some individuals' lives. 

Whilst there is an understandable and distinct lack of reversibility to the current 

restrictions, this is however leading to difficulties in planning sustainable alternatives 

for people with learning disabilities, in particular regarding respite provision. Many 

of those who would normally access respite services now have not been able to do 

so (or not at the frequency of that pre-pandemic) or have chosen not to due to the 

potential perceived risk. This is resulting in increased carer burden and strain and 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



entially increasing the likelihood of placement breakdown and emergency 

hospital admission (which is compounded by an already lacking provision of respite 

services and alternative placements). 

The changing laws, guidance and regulations relating to the pandemic and 

restrictions: inpatient advice/guidance has lagged behind in terms of enabling 

patient leave. Patient leave is an important part of recovery for many patients and 

also a safety net for transition into a new placement. Restrictions on leave due to 

risks of covid transmission to other people in the community (in the shared 

accommodation) or back into hospital has made it very challenging, and likely 

delayed discharges. There is also a significant impact on people with ASD of the rule 

changes and stress of worrying about the public not following rules, resulting in 

increased anxiety 

Patients who live in (shared) supported living not being able to form a "bubble" with 

family members has also proven significantly challenging. Patients may benefit from 

Skype/FaceTime but for some individuals this has had the opposite effect: causing 

more distress. 

Due to the need to have a single point of access for admission, patients experience 

an additional transfer from the SPA to the AATU after 2 weeks. It is hard to say the 

exact impact of this but it seems likely that it will lengthen admissions and could 

cause some patients to regress on transfer. 

Virtual consultations have proven successful in LD psychiatrists can continue to 

review and see/include patients. In some situations better than seeing a patient face 

to face with masks on as able to assess mental state to an extent and develop 

rapport more easily. Also in some cases results in better patient engagement (e.g. 

patients who don't like going to clinic and carers attend only pre-pandemic). For 

others though, their involvement may be reduced. Difficulties with technology are a 

barrier and there can be reluctance of families/carers to engage with technology 

(often preferring a phone call when given the option). 

Earlier on during the pandemic (and could be the case again with local lockdowns) 

patients who need to continue to access the community for their mental wellbeing 

were stopped and interrogated by the police. In some cases they were told to return 

home. This resulted in anxiety for family/carers as well as for individuals with learning 

disabilities. In some cases patients/family were not keen to access the community 

again - impacting on their and the individual with learning disability's wellbeing. 

There was reduced / cancelled / delayed annual healthchecks with some GPs as they 

were classed non-essential. Annual healthchecks are an important component of 

Tudalen y pecyn 116



ucing inequalities by attempting to identify any emerging health 

problems early. 

• NHS Wales should work with RCPsych Wales to ensure that day services are

available and open/re-open when safe and appropriate, and not left closed or

unavailable unnecessarily

Older people 

We are currently involved in a project with Old Age psychiatric teams in both 

ABUHB, and BCUHB in delivering memory services through video consultation. This 

project has been well supported by TEC Cymru and Digital Communities Wales to 

date, with evaluation arrangements made. 

We feel this should be considered by Welsh Government upon evaluation, as it offers 

increased opportunity to deliver appropriate remote services. 

People in forensic care 

As previously mentioned, we have been made aware that many medical staff could 

not see patients in prison because of COVID and there was now a backlog of illness. 

Additionally, it has been reported that people were being held on remand for 

lengthy periods over alleged offences and the associated psychological impact will 

be significant. 

There have been different approaches undertaken in private and public forensic 

units, both attempting to strike a balance between seeing the patients regularly but 

not risking the spread of COVID. Visiting in forensic units had been heavily curtailed. 

Liaison Psychiatry Services 

The impact of Covid on the Liaison Services 

a)Alternative pathways to Emergency Departments (ED) have been created by some

Health boards (e.g. BCUHB) to reduce risk of Covid exposure to patients and

staff. This was well appreciated by the emergency department and general hospital

but difficulties and safety issues cannot be overlooked.
0 
N 

Tudalen y pecyn 117



cialty specific alternatives to ED - including alternatives for patients with a clear 

mental health emergency need and no physical health needs, should be provided 

to reduce waiting times in ED, improve hospital flow and give service users a better 

experience. 

b)Additional beds e.g. the building of Dragon's Heart Hospital in Cardiff.

These additional beds created great spaces for improved flow away from the general 

hospital, however lack of natural light and use of artificial lighting did not help older 

patients with cognitive impairment with their orientation and recovery especially 

following Delirium. 

When building new hospitals, environmental research about Delirium and our 

psychogeriatric populations should always be taken into consideration. 

c)Use of technology- this has been a fast tracked change realised during Covid.

E.g. Attend Anywhere has been used for liaison outpatient clinics;

Telephone contact by liaison staff to known frequent attenders has been used in the

initial weeks for support.

Modern technology needs to be available across Wales, particularly in rural 

areas. Some areas still have problems accessing good signal making it difficult for 

provision of services even remotely. 

Impact on Staff 

• Liaison services immediately recognised their role in looking after the well­

being of colleagues in the general hospital. Some were instrumental in

ensuring the provision of a concerted staff well-being response within their

Health boards, others participated directly by supporting distressed

colleagues and being frontline. Generally there was a sense of team work and

readiness to work outside one's own comfort zone.

Organisations need to pull resources from both Physical and Mental Health, as well 

as Primary and Secondary Care, Health and Social Care, to find solutions to many 

more problems that we are facing with the Health of our Nation. 

For instance, now we are starting to see disabling anxiety and chronic non-specific 

physical symptoms - like post viral fatigue in some patients post Covid. There is no 

clear pathway or agreed approach to address these problems within primary or 

secondary care, physical or mental health. 
M 

N 

Tudalen y pecyn 118



• Some liaison services experienced more than 50% reduction in staffing levels

due to redeployment, shielding, stress related issues and self-isolating. For

some services this was on top of already strained services with long term

recruitment issues or delays in application processing.

There is currently very minimal flexibility in the system to allow for drops in staffing 

levels. There has to be an increased awareness and proper measurement of gaps in 

services and staffing gaps in Welsh health services. 

• Liaison services split between the hospital and alternative pathways at times

made it difficult to run a safe service. There was an expectation to cover

alternative pathways and additional services (such as the Dragon's Heart

Hospital) with the same staffing. Even where resources were made available

e.g. through Covid funds, the lack of professionals readily available to take up

extra work made it very difficult to employ the additional staff.

There are plenty of opportunities for training new staff in Wales but there is no 

surplus of clinical staff to dedicate time to this. Clinical work always trumps over 

other activities. There is a need for more training posts within health services to 

provide a great experience for trainees whilst on work experience. These in turn 

would want to join the Welsh workforce. This applies to doctors, nurses, allied health 

professionals etc. 

• Trainee doctors and other staff experienced working different shifts and

facing Covid deaths on the wards, especially wards for older people. The

psychological impact of the relentlessness of this is yet to be discovered.

The long term effects of Covid on staff should be monitored. A database to identify 

if problems are directly or indirectly Covid or non-Covid related would help. 

• PPE fatigue and burnout amongst both clinical and management staff due

to the many uncertainties and unpredictability about their day to day shift.

E.g. having to cover a 12 hour shift alone because colleagues self-isolating and

shift could not be filled. Letting people down and guilt feelings because

patients are unable to be seen in a timely way.

Staff should not have to work in such conditions that threaten their own 

health. There needs to be more resources and these have to be more readily 

available. 

Impact on Patients and carers 
N 

N 

Tudalen y pecyn 119



e services experienced an initial reduction in referrals when lockdown was first 

announced and hospitals were dealing with reduced plans as well as emergency 

admissions. This lasted about 2-3 weeks but since, referrals picked up with: 

• a new cohort of patients not otherwise known to services, presenting with

anxiety, depression and psychotic episodes -possible isolation or effects of

unemployment on previously fully functional adults

• very well-known patients with severe mental illness, stable for many years,

relapsing due to loss/shut down of community services both within the NHS

and third sector.

• New patients presenting with self-harm and actual suicide attempts-related

to social isolation both in the young and older adults.

• Increase Alcohol intoxication and withdrawals at all age groups

• Delirium both covid related and non covid

• Covid Encephalopathy

• Carers' strain due to lack of respite and limited resources to support them.

More robust NHS and other third sector community services are needed and are 

crucial for the prevention of mental illness and well-being of our nation. These 

services need to be age and gender appropriate, non-stigmatising, easily accessible 

24/7 for both rural and city residents across the nation. 

We hope that this information Is helpful for the committee, in light of an ever­

changing picture. We would be keen to provide additional insight into forecasting 

need and risk at our evidence session. 

Ends 

1 The Royal College of Psychiatrists issued a survey to its members working in the National Health 
Service across the United Kingdom. It was in the field from Wednesday 15 April until the morning of 
Friday 17 April. 
2 https://www.hsj.co.uk/finance-and-efficiency/exclusive-hundreds-of-patients-kept-in-distressing-
dormitory-style-wards/7025290.article 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomic 
wellbeingintheuk/may2020 
4 https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-poverty 

https://www.ons.qov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/personalandeconomic 
wellbeingintheuk/may2020 
6 https://www.mentalhealth.orq.uk/statistics/mental-health-statistics-physical-health-conditions Raj, 
D., Stansfeld, S., Weich, S., Stewart, R., McBride, 0., Brug ha, T., ... & Papp, M. (2016). Chapter 13: Comorbidity 

("I') 

N 

Tudalen y pecyn 120



in mental and physical illness. In S. McManus, P. Bebbington, R Jenkins, & T. Brug ha (Eds.), Mental health 
and wellbeing in England: Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014. Leeds: NHS Digita 
7 Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2016, Healing a Divided Britain. 
8 ONS, Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 March 2020 to 10 
April 2020, 
9 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/about-us/responding-to-covid-19/responding-to-covid-19-guidance-for-
cl in icia ns/legal-covid-19-gu ida nee-for-clinicians 
10 NHS Digital (2017) Mental Health Act Statistics, Annual Figures: 2016-17, Experimental statistics 
11 Royal College of Psychiatry, Racism and Mental Health, 2018 
https://www.rcpsych.ac. u k/pdf /PS01 18a. pdf 
12 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/position-
statements/ps01 _ 18.pdf?sfvrsn=53b60962_ 4 
13 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/improving-care/nccmh/care-pathways/advancing-mental-health-
equality 
14 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/improving-care/nccmh/care-pathways/advancing-mental-health-
equality 
15 NHS confederation (2020) The impact of COVID-19 on BME communities and health and care staff. 
Available from: https://www.nhsconfed.org/­
/med ia/Confederation/Files/Pu bl ications/Docu ments/BRI EFI NG _Im pact-of-COVI D-19-
BM E_ communities-and-staff _FN L.pdf 
16 Health Services Journal (2020) Exclusive: deaths of NHS staff from COVID-19 analysed. Available from: 
https://www.hsj.eo.uk/exclusive-deaths-of-nhs-staff-from-covid-l9-analysed/702747l.article 
17 Kanani, Nikki. lssar, Prerana. (2020) Note for all BAME colleagues working in the NHS. Available from: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/note-for-all-bame-colleagues-working-in-the-nhs/ 
18 Chakravorty I, Daga S, Dave S, Chakravorty S, Shala N, Menon G, Mehta R & Samrah JS. An online 
survey of healthcare professionals in the COVID-19 Pandemic in the UK. Sushruta 2020 (Jul) voll3(2): 
ePub 25.04.2020 (pre-print vl.2*) DOI: 10.38192/13.2.9 
19 Kings Fund (2020) Ethnic Minority Deaths and COVID-19: What are we to do? Available from: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/04/ethnic-minority-deaths-covid-l9 
20 NHS confederation (2020) The impact of COVID-19 on BME communities and health and care staff. 
Available from: https://www.nhsconfed.org/­
/med ia/Confederation/Files/Pu bl ications/Docu ments/BRI EFI NG _Im pact-of-COVI D-19-
BME_ communities-and-staff _FN L.pdf 
21 NHS (2019) NHS workforce race equality standard: 2019 data analysis report for NHS trusts. Available 
from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/wres-2019-data-report.pdf 
22 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file07 
8897/Modernising the Mental Health Act - increasing choice reducing compulsion.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 121



The impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 
British Psychological Society 

July 2020 

1 

British Psychological Society response to the Senedd Health Committee 

The impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 

The British Psychological Society, incorporated by Royal Charter, is the learned and professional 
body for psychologists in the United Kingdom. We are a registered charity with a total membership of 
just over 60,000, with over 1,500 members in Wales. 

Under its Royal Charter, the objective of the British Psychological Society is "to promote the 
advancement and diffusion of the knowledge of psychology pure and applied and especially to 
promote the efficiency and usefulness of members by setting up a high standard of professional 
education and knowledge".  We are committed to providing and disseminating evidence-based 
expertise and advice, engaging with policy and decision makers, and promoting the highest standards 
in learning and teaching, professional practice and research.  

The British Psychological Society is an examining body granting certificates and diplomas in specialist 
areas of professional applied psychology. 

Publication and Queries 
We are content for our response, as well as our name and address, to be made public.  We are also 
content for the Committee to contact us in the future in relation to this inquiry.   

Please direct all queries to:- 

The British Psychological Society, 48 Princess Road East, Leicester, LE1 7DR 

About this Response 
The response was led on behalf of the Society by Elin Llyr, Deryn Consulting.  With contributions from 
Division of Counselling Psychology Wales, Dr Jimmy Jones -  Professional Lead Older Adult 
Psychology Aneurin Bevan UHB / Consultant Clinical Psychologist & Neuropsychologist, and Dr 
Joshua Payne – Chair of BPS’ Welsh Branch and Lecturer in Cognitive Psychology at Glyndwr 
University.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-26-20 Papur 4 / Paper 4

Tudalen y pecyn 122



Tudalen y pecyn 123



The impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 
British Psychological Society 

July 2020 
 

3 

awareness of the appropriate adjustments that are required for people with intellectual 
disabilities at this exceptional time. 

 
Young People 
The current crisis is affecting many young people in ways that will risk long-term consequences for 
their mental health. Many children and young people already have a diagnosable mental health 
condition, and research suggests that the majority of those believe that the pressures created by the 
crisis are exacerbating their needs.   
 
Many others – including those who have experienced bereavement, abuse or domestic violence – are 
also likely to require additional support. The fear of becoming ill or seeing a loved one become ill, the 
loss of routines, the difficulties of social connection, the impact of loneliness, the disruption to 
education and the challenges of living in difficult or dangerous situations are creating additional 
pressure for young people across the country.  Young people who belong to groups that are already 
marginalised or disadvantaged may be particularly at risk.   
 
While mental health professionals deserve enormous credit for responding to the challenges the 
pandemic brings, many young people who were receiving some form of mental health treatment 
before the crisis are now receiving reduced support or no support at all. Other young people who 
would not previously have met the threshold for mental health support are likely to require it. Without 
preventative action, their needs are likely to escalate.  The BPS has launched guidance for school 
leaders to consider the emotional and developmental needs of children as they return to school.    
Whilst we welcome the steps that the Welsh Government has already taken to prioritise mental health 
this falls well short of meeting the scale of need. While many voluntary sector providers have been 
quick to adapt to the changing landscape – moving support online and using innovative approaches 
to safe service delivery - there remain gaps in infrastructure and funding which threaten the long-term 
sustainability of these efforts.   
 

• The Society calls on the Welsh Government to work with the voluntary sector to launch 
a national campaign to reach children and young people, and their families, to promote 
positive approaches for maintaining mental wellbeing. 

• The Society also calls on the Welsh Government to commit to introducing additional 
support for young people’s mental health as we move out of the pandemic to meet 
rising demand.  
 

Autism 
Many families who have people with learning difficulties or Autism have been significantly impacted 
by the Covid-19 pandemic. Some children and young people with Autism Spectrum Disorders have 
been told they have to wait for access to medication, whilst those who had recently started medication 
continued to be monitored, leading to a disparity in services.  
Whilst we appreciate the Welsh Government’s efforts to consider families with children with learning 
disabilities and autism in relation to Covid-19 rules and restrictions, further action needs to be taken to 
ensure that those individuals are not left behind as the country begins to recover from the pandemic. 
 

• We call on the Welsh Government to work with Local Authorities to ensure that 
planning takes place to make sure that autistic children will not fall behind as they 
transition back to school.  

 
Remote Consultations & Assessments  
With many practitioner psychologists considering undertaking remote client assessments for the first 
time due to Covid-19 restrictions, the Society has produced guidance to support them through the 
process. 
 
Current restrictions such as limits on face-to-face meetings and the need to wear personal protective 

Tudalen y pecyn 124



The impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 
British Psychological Society 

July 2020 
 

4 

equipment presents significant difficulties. Psychologists may face the choice of whether to undertake 
an assessment remotely, face-to-face, or not at all and will need to carefully consider the risks of each 
alternative. 
 
The Insurance Companies’ insistence of sessions being face-to-face prevents the application of 
choice and limits access to services by carers (parents, those who care for an older adults or have 
other carer responsibilities) and it means that often people will need to disclose to employers to get 
time of work to attend appointments that could place their jobs at risk. It can compound shame and 
guilt leading to an increase in stigma and can decrease the availability to young people and older 
adults who find online provisions easier to access due to familiarity of online working and reduced car 
journey’s in attending appointments.  
 
As a result of the insurance issue and the pressure to hold face to face sessions, not only are 
practitioners required to be in a closed, confidential space for at least an hour, but if they are 
expected to wear PPE, this will have an impact on the psychological process and potentially the 
quality of service. It would be beneficial to be able to continue to offer remote sessions as the 
lockdown eases without being penalised and restricted by the insurance companies.  
 

• With many people anxious about accessing healthcare services, the Society calls on 
the Welsh Government to support the further adoption of remote consultation and 
diagnosis.  

• The Society calls on the Welsh Government to offer guidance on offering remote 
services as the country moves out of lockdown so that practitioners are not to be at the 
mercy of what health insurance companies are wanting.  
 

 
The Deaf community  
Covid-19 has presented unique challenges to people living with hearing loss, many of whom rely on 
visual cues such as lip-reading and sign language, which leans heavily on facial cues and 
expressions for communication. As a result, deaf people will be facing a challenge in situations where 
the wearing of face mask is required as it’s a huge communication barrier. 
 
Many of the deaf community may also have other long-term health conditions which will have led to 
them sheltering further, enhancing loneliness and fear. During the pandemic, many will have 
struggled to access services and provisions such as Psychological Therapy without BSL interpreters, 
which they already found challenging to access before Covid-19.  
 
40% (1 in every 2.5 people) of the deaf or hard of hearing community are affected by complex mental 
health issues, compared with 25% (1 in 4 people) of the hearing population, this was before Covid-19. 
Their mental health problems are compounded further by difficulties in communicating with care 
providers – as lip reading isn’t adequate, sign language interpreters are seen as a last resort and 
many diagnostic tools depend on knowledge that isn’t common among those who are deaf. Add to 
this that most interpreters are English speaking means those who are Welsh often struggle to have 
their needs met. Those that identify as deaf or hard of hearing would prefer not to use an interpreter, 
and prefer to use sign when able, further impeding access to services.  
 
The Sick Of It Report highlighted the disparity of service provision in 2014 and made 
recommendations to facilitate change.   
 

• Whilst the Society welcomes the Welsh Government’s efforts to provide BSL for its 
daily press conferences and the provision of BSL resources, we call on further action 
to support the Deaf community during these difficult times to ensure that they’re not 
forgotten.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 125



The impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales 
British Psychological Society 

July 2020 
 

5 

 
BAME Community  
 
It has been well documented that the BAME community has been impacted at a higher rate than 
others by Covid-19 and as a result, many will be suffering from anxiety. People from Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic groups are more likely to be in jobs that has greater exposure to risk of infection, more 
likely to be in poorer health, in more precarious employment and sufferer more serious consequences 
including death. 
 
There is also the likelihood that people from BAME communities are experiencing a psychological 
and emotional response in relation to issues being addressed by the Black Lives Matter movement. 
The BPS stands in solidarity with all those who are feeling pain and expressing righteous anger about 
racial injustice and recommit to valuing diversity and fighting inequity.  
 

• We call on the Welsh Government to commit its support for the BAME communities in 
Wales as we move out of lockdown and actively work to address issues of inequality 
across all social characteristics. 
 
 

Other High-Risk Groups 
 
We must not forget about the real and potential impact of Covid-19 on other individuals in the ‘high-
risk’ groups with pre-existing medical conditions, disabilities, or life-limiting illnesses. Many of these 
individuals were underserved and underacknowledged before this crisis, and this has been 
confounded by poor guidance during isolation, poor information around support, and restriction of 
routine medical procedures. Most of these individuals are still shielding and dealing with increased 
anxieties around the very real increased risk of transmission of Covid-19, and additional uncertainties 
around the management of their care. As lockdown eases, poor adherence with social distancing is 
likely to have a lasting impact on their behaviour and mental health in the long term, and a ‘new 
normal’ will not emerge for these individuals for a long time. Initiatives that target older people and/or 
people with learning disabilities, deafness, autism, will not reach individuals with physical disabilities. 
Even if they do, they will not address many of the topics that are important for individuals with pre-
existing medical conditions, physical disabilities, or life-limiting illnesses. 
 

• We call on the Welsh Government to ensure increased support and initiatives for high-
risk individuals as we slowly come out of lockdown.  

 
 
Post-Covid Recovery Plan 
We recognise the scale of the challenge that we’re all facing, but by taking bold action now, we can 
reduce the impact of the pandemic and give hope to thousands of people across the country. 
 

• We urge the Welsh Government to consider how psychological evidence and expertise 
will be a vital part of Wales’ post-covid recovery plan.  

 

End. 

Tudalen y pecyn 126



Vaughan Gething AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Minister for Health and Social Services 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref: VG/0326/20 

Dr Dai Lloyd 
Cadeirydd, Y Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

29 Medi 2020 

Annwyl Dai, 

Gallaf gadarnhau bod Ymddiriedolaeth GIG Prifysgol Felindre wedi cyflwyno Achosion 
Busnes Amlinellol i Lywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer cynllun Ysbyty Canser newydd. Mae'r rhain 
yn mynd drwy brosesau craffu ar hyn o bryd a byddaf yn cael cyngor ffurfiol maes o law er 
mwyn gwneud penderfyniad.   

Mae'r cynllun yn un o'r tri y mae Gweinidogion Cymru yn eu datblygu drwy'r Model Buddsoddi 
Cydfuddiannol a gyllidir drwy arian refeniw. Safle’r Dolydd Gogleddol yw'r un a ffefrir gan yr 
Ymddiriedolaeth ar gyfer y Ganolfan Ganser newydd, sydd eisoes â chaniatâd cynllunio 
amlinellol.  

Rwyf yn ymwybodol bod pryderon wedi'u codi ynglŷn â'r effaith amgylcheddol ac ynglŷn â'r 
model clinigol. Ni allaf wneud sylw am y pwyntiau hyn ar hyn o bryd oherwydd gallai hynny 
ragfarnu'r cyngor yr wyf i fod i'w gael yn ystod y misoedd nesaf ar y cynllun ei hun. 

Hefyd, fel sy'n wir am bob newid arfaethedig i wasanaethau, ni all Gweinidogion Cymru wneud 
sylwadau ar yr hyn sy'n cael ei gynnig gan yr Ymddiriedolaeth. Mae gan Gynghorau Iechyd 
Cymuned y gallu i gyfeirio materion newid gwasanaethau at Weinidogion Cymru ar sawl sail, 
gan gynnwys os ydynt o'r farn nad yw’r newid er budd y gwasanaeth iechyd. Yna caiff 
Gweinidogion Cymru wneud penderfyniad ar y mater. O’r herwydd, rhaid i Weinidogion Cymru 
sicrhau nad ydym yn gwneud sylwadau ar gynigion ar gyfer newid gwasanaethau rhag ofn y 
gwneir atgyfeiriad o'r fath. 

Yr hyn y gallaf ei ddweud ar hyn o bryd yw y bydd y pryderon a godwyd am y model clinigol 
yn cael eu hystyried yn llawn yn y cyngor a gaf pan ofynnir imi ystyried fersiwn derfynol yr 
Achos Busnes Amlinellol. Mae'r Prif Swyddog Meddygol hefyd wedi gofyn i Ymddiriedolaeth 
GIG Felindre geisio cyngor annibynnol ar ei model clinigol arfaethedig ac i ymgysylltu eto â'r 
gymuned glinigol ynglŷn â'r model rhanbarthol. 

Mae Felindre wedi penodi’r Nuffield Trust i roi cyngor clinigol annibynnol iddi, a fydd yn 
ystyried y pryderon a godwyd a'r arferion ledled y DU. Bydd y cyngor hwn yn rhan o'r cynnig 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-26-20 Papur 5 / Paper 5

Tudalen y pecyn 127

Eitem 4.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales


terfynol a gyflwynir i Lywodraeth Cymru i'w ystyried, pan ofynnir iddi gymeradwyo'r Achos 
Busnes. 
 
Ar y cyd â datblygu'r Achos Busnes, mae amrywiaeth o weithgareddau eraill ar y gweill hefyd, 
gan gynnwys y gofynion cynllunio sy'n gysylltiedig â'r prosiect. Mae'r rhain yn amodol ar 
benderfyniad lleol gan Bwyllgor Cynllunio Cyngor Caerdydd ac mae posibilrwydd y gallent 
gael eu galw i mewn gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Felly, nid yw'n briodol cynnig sylwadau ar y 
broses hon, gan y gallai hynny ragfarnu safbwynt Gweinidogion Cymru pe bai'r mater yn dod 
ger eu bron yn ddiweddarach.  
 
Serch hynny, deallaf natur y pryderon sy'n cael eu codi ond ni allaf wneud sylw amdanynt 
gan y gallai fod yn ofynnol imi wneud penderfyniad ar y cynigion yn y dyfodol. 
 
Yn gywir, 

 
Vaughan Gething AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol  
Minister for Health and Social Services 

Tudalen y pecyn 128


	Agenda
	2 COVID-19: Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Hafal, Mind Cymru a Platfform
	Papur 1: Hafal (Saesneg yn unig)
	C04 - Hafal
	Hafal Further Evidence - Inquiry into the Covid-19 outbreak on health and social care in Wales

	Papur 2: Mind Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)

	3 COVID-19: Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Choleg Brenhinol y Seiciatryddion yng Nghymru a Chymdeithas Seicolegol Prydain
	Papur 4: Cymdeithas Seicolegol Prydain (Saesneg yn unig)

	4.1 Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ynghylch y Ganolfan Ganser Felindre newydd arfaethedig



